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Chairman’s Overview
............................................................

The financial year 2007/8 ends on a high note for MTC Board, man-
agement and staff on numerous fronts. We have faced many a chal-
lenge as a business but emerged triumphant and in a much better 
shape.  It is therefore with an immense sense of pride and with due 
recognition to the men and women who achieved those feats that I 
submit the annual report and financial results of the Mobile Telecom-
munications Limited (MTC) for the year ended 30 September 2008.

Globally, the mobile telecommunications market has continued to ex-
hibit tremendous growth during the period under review despite major 
turbulences caused by continued consolidations, mergers and acquisi-
tions.  Africa and the Middle East are still the main theatres of growth. 
It took 9 years for Africa to break the first 100 million subscriber bar-
rier.  It took a further 2 years to reach the next 200 million and it is 
projected that there will be 400 million subscribers in Africa alone by 
the end of the 2008 calendar year.  

A further key development on the continent has been the fact that Ni-
geria eclipsed South Africa in subscriber numbers followed by Egypt, 
Algeria, and Morocco as the top 5 markets by subscribers.

On the data revenue front, the continent has also shown tremendous 
growth of 53 percent year-on-year in comparison to a worldwide av-
erage of 35 percent.

These figures compare favourably with MTC’s own performance as 
reported in detail in the present report.  We have continued to ex-
perience an upward trend of some 36 percent in customer growth.  
Despite an extremely competitive market, MTC further reports a rise in 
the EBITDA to N$627 million (up from N$583 million in 2007). 

The Namibian telecommunications space has continued to be charac-
terised by increased competition with the full operationalisation of the 
new GSM operator, Cell One and the CDMA product branded Switch 
by the incumbent fixed line operator, Telecom Namibia.  

In spite of these competitive pressures, MTC continued to outperform 
all players along key indicators. We have retained market share 
above 85 percent and still achieved customer growth in excess of  
one million active subscribers in a country of a mere 2 million inhabit-
ants.  This is a remarkable achievement given the fact that MTC only 
reached 500 000 active subscribers in July 2006.

On the regulatory front, MTC remains hopeful that the much anticipat-
ed promulgation of the revised Telecommunications Bill into law will 
see light of day soonest.  Much has been said and done to ensure that 
the new bill provides for a fully empowered and financed Regulatory 
Authority, setting out a clear demarcation of responsibilities between 
the government departments responsible for the sector, and instils con-
tinued investor confidence in our sector.  

As a final note, allow me to, on my own behalf and that of the Board 
of Directors, congratulate the staff and management of MTC for con-
tinuing to deliver such excellent results.  I must also salute fellow MTC 
directors and especially our technical and strategic partners, Portugal 
Telecom, for an excellent year in cooperation and driving our business 
forward.

Steve Motinga
Chairman
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Managing Director’s Report
................................................................................

The best way to describe 2008 financial year for MTC is simply that 
it was fantastic.  We have reached all our key performance indica-
tors where market share is the single most important consideration 
and strategic variable in the same vein as profit maximisation.  Both 
indicators showed a very positive upward trend resulting in a consid-
erable value addition to the bottom-line of the company.

The year 2008 will further go down in the annals of MTC’s history as 
the year in which we have also reached one of our biggest milestones 
– that of attaining 1 million ACTIVE customers.  During the same pe-
riod under review the MTC brand also received a major revival where 
it today proudly reflects the Namibian sky blue as part of our natural 
landscape.

Another significant challenge posed to the business emanated from 
the government’s imposition of VAT on pre-paid calls. However, our 
significant growth in subscriber numbers has more than compensated 
for the potential negative impact on our business with a growth in 
turnover to N$1.257billion (+12.9%) and EBIDTA to N$0.627billion 
(+7.5%). Without the VAT on pre-paid calls EBIDTA would have grown 
by double digits resulting in us even paying more in dividends and 
taxes to government.

The Market
Namibia shows the expected growth in terms of penetration of ser-
vices as a result of an increasingly competitive environment.  MTC 
remains firmly poised to be the engine of that growth with an addition 
of 265 149 new subscribers to our customer base representing a 
35.7% rise in the subscriber base.

This tremendous growth in customer base was as a result of a relent-
less focus on one of our key strategic performance indicators, that of 
retaining all our current customers and get 60 percent more of the 
new subscribers.  According to two concordant sources, that is market 
research and analysis of the number of unique users from the competi-
tors who exchange voice calls or messages with MTC customers, our 
market share remains firmly above 85 percent.

The Company
MTC underwent a major restructuring exercise which commenced 
early 2007 but came into full blossom during the period under review 
with the establishment of three levels of management with an Executive 
Committee (EXCO), a middle management cadre and a non-
managerial core.

After a period of adaptation the structure functions optimally.  Com-
mercial Operations area houses Products & Services, Marketing, Sales 
and CRM.  The Technology function has oversight of the Network 
and IT operations.  The Finance function is responsible for Finance, 
Logistics and Revenue Assurance.  The Human Capital function is in 
charge of recruitment and development, training, payroll and support 
services.  Controlling and Planning, Corporate Affairs and Legal are 
located in the office of the MD and provide critical support to the 
EXCO.

The decision-making processes in MTC remains robust and open as 
handled by the EXCO which meets weekly to consider submissions 
from all business units.  This model allows for a carefully synchronized 
and systemic approach to flow of information through the organisa-
tion.

A quarterly staff meeting further ensures that all staff functions are 
aligned and people adequately motivated to deliver the required val-
ue to the business. The same meeting reviews company performance 
and provides critical feedback to staff on the key performance indica-
tors.

Regulatory Environment
The creation of the Ministry of Information, Communication and Tech-
nology and the appointment of Joel Kaapanda, MP, as the Minister 
responsible for our sector was a major development during 2008.  
This new configuration is the basilar stone to the proper development 
of a future-proof and relevant regulatory framework for the ICT sector 
and we, without reservation, welcome the decision.  MTC, and its 
technical partner, Portugal Telecom (PT), has offered to collaborate as 
much as we can to contribute to the establishment of a new era and 
regime in the telecommunications space.  To give substance to our un-
dertaking to assist the Namibian government, a carefully researched 
document was delivered by hand to the ICT Minister, as well to the 
Prime Minister, entitled “Overview of the European Electronic Com-
munications Regulatory Framework”.  This was meant to assist in 
the debates in further development of the reform process of the current 
regulatory framework by providing insights to Namibia from the Euro-
pean experience in building a successful, profitable and competitive 
electronic communications market.  This document was presented by 
Mr. Zeinal Bava, the Chief Executive Officer of Portugal Telecom, dur-
ing his visit to Namibia in September 2008 and was prepared by the 
Lawyers who work with PT on regulatory matters worldwide.

Numerous challenges remain on this front.  Firstly, the Telecommunica-
tions Bill remains in the doldrums with no conclusion in sight.
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Secondly, the poor reaction of the Authorities (the Namibia Commu-
nications Commission and the ICT Ministry) allowing competitors to 
raise important industry issues in the media as opposed to using es-
tablished channels.  The Interconnect Regime was one such issue that 
was an agreement signed by all industry players but it was being 
presented as a dictate from MTC whilst all parties knew the history.  
The authorities dealt with this matter inadequately and MTC’s name 
ran the risk of being unfairly tarnished. 

Thirdly, the future evolution of the Telecommunication Bill remains 
suspect.   The ICT Ministry has changed the draft bill without due 
consultation of all players in the evolution of this important piece of 
legislation in spite of our enormous efforts to contribute to a fairer 
reform.  The draft was being changed and special rights conferred 
to Telecom Namibia, the incumbent fixed-line operator.  This does 
not augur well for future private investments in the sector nor does 
it engender any confidence and bestow credibility to the envisaged 
regulatory regime.

The Strategy
The core tenets of MTC’s strategic thrust are anchored on not losing 
the existing customer base, reaching 60 percent of the new subscrib-
ers and maintaining a significant position in the provision of Internet 
Access in Namibia.

In order to achieve and exceed these objectives, MTC had to invest 
significantly in the upgrading of our core switches and business plat-
forms.  All key projects which were part of that investment were con-
cluded during the period under review and will offer MTC one of the 
highest capacities in terms of busy hour event attempts (voice calls/
sms).  With that new capacity MTC now offers its customers varied 
promotions whilst maintaining or slightly decreasing the ARPU but 
dramatically stimulating usage and improving customer loyalty.  

Another significant milestone achieved during the period under re-
view was the successful rebranding of MTC.  Because our business 
is firmly rooted in an emotional engagement between our customers 
and the MTC brand, and also taking into account the views of the 
multiple focus groups representing several segments of our market, 
we undertook to evolve our brand progressively (instead of a revolu-
tion).  The successful implementation of the branding exercise was 
independently confirmed in our annual perception and quality of ser-
vice survey conducted by the prestigious South African research firm 
Synovate.  It is critical to highlight that MTC achieved the best overall 
results since the inception of the survey in 2002.  A further result of the 
same survey was a rise in perception of quality of service by 6 points, 
nearer to the ideal score, confirming clearly that MTC is the Premium 
Namibian Network.

Parting thoughts
At the centre of our business are our customers whose expectations 
we have to meet and exceed.  Having said that, we also take cogni-
zance of the fact that customers from different walks-of-life have dra-

matically different expectations.  University students do not have the 
same communication needs as the cucashop entrepreneur in northern 
Namibia, for instance.  However, both need the same quality of ser-
vice and MTC will always venture to offer them extensive coverage, 
reliable service and innovative product features to suit the individual 
needs of the different segments that we are serving.

Every Namibian everywhere should enjoy the right to MTC services 
and that is our main driver as a business.  In spite of the fact that the 
Namibian population is spread over the vast expanse of this huge 
country and the available statistics are not very accurate in helping 
us make the right decisions in terms of coverage, we remain focussed 
on improving our coverage and quality of network.  MTC relies on 
intelligence from our full service call centre which operates 24hours 
a day, 7days a week, feedback from our 20 Mobile Homes, requests 
from our corporate accounts department, and also requests that we 
receive from the ICT Ministry.  These are critical building blocks for 
our network improvement strategy which are further cemented by our 
own internal scientific analyses and exercises.

António Miguel Ferreira Geraldes
Managing Director

Managing Director’s Report (continued)
..................................................................................
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Technological Environment
................................................................................

During the period under review, MTC completed a very ambitious proj-
ect to replace the monolithic Siemens Core Network equipment with a 
high capacity Release 4 Soft switch.  Deployment of Next Generation 
Network infrastructure was a future-proof decision taken and executed 
successfully.  The main driver was Network Capacity.  Huawei Tech-
nologies were selected to supply and install the Release 4 Soft switch 
capable of 3.6 M simultaneous Busy Hour Call Attempts.  The Project 
will be successfully completed before the end of the 2008 calendar year 
with minimal disruption to customer service. 

Apart from the additional Network Capacity, MTC further gained im-
proved Network Quality with improved Call Completion rates com-
pared to the monolothic Release 99 switch.

The capacity of the Intelligent Network (IN) was also upgraded from 
1.75 million to 3.5 Million Busy Hour Event Attempts during 2008 
to cater for continued subscriber growth and to be in line with other 
network nodes.

MTC also launched a major Transmission project (backbone and ac-
cess) beginning of 2008 with the following targets, drivers and focus 
areas:

•  To reduce dependency on Telecom Namibia where MTC ex- 
 perienced major network failures due to Telecom Fibre break- 
 downs,  
•  To enable self provisioning for faster expansion of the MTC  
 network, 
•  To support MTC’s drive to provide high quality and reliable
 service to all its customers in Windhoek and the regions through  
 high network availability,
•  To reduce leased-line costs.

MTC believes that with a reliable Transmission Backbone from Wind-
hoek to the regional hubs i.e. from Windhoek to Swakopmund and 
Walvisbay at the Coast, to Oshakati in the North, to Rundu in the 
North East, Gobabis in the East and to Keetmanshoop in the Southern 
part of Namibia, our customers will feel the improvements in a not-so-
distant future.  The core thrust will be to provide extra capacity and 
redundancy is achieved through shared circuits between MTC’s own 
backbone and the Telecom Namibia infrastructure.

Transmission ring networks were also deployed in Windhoek, Walvis-
bay, Swakopmund, Oshakati and Ondangwa for additional capacity.  
The tender for completion of the Transmission project was granted to 
Nera Networks and Ericsson.

2008 was a record year for MTC with regards to SMS’s traffic as 
well. The record number of SMS’s represents an increase of over 100 
percent through 2008, marking it a significantly good year for MTC 
in terms of data traffic.  On a month-on-month basis, the SMS traffic 
increased from 195 million in January 2008 and expected to reach 
at least 600 million by end December 2008.  

Over the past three years, MTC handled 715 million messages in 
2006, 1.5 billion in 2007 and we expect that figure to reach stagger-
ing heights closed to 4 billion by the end of the 2008 calendar year.

The Short Message Service Centre Node was upgraded for higher 
capacity and 4 times more throughputs together with the capacity 
upgrade on the IN.

Additional Coverage and Capacity Enhancements were done on the 
Radio Network – GSM/GPRS/EDGE/3G Broadband - to improve 
mobile coverage in partnership with Nokia Siemens and Motorola. 

MTC Network Management Centre started working 24/7 since 1 
June 2008, to ensure better service to our customers with 24 hour 
supervision and intervention on our systems and equipment.  This was 
a milestone to achieve our QoS targets.

During the same period under review, several capacity and configu-
ration upgrades were also performed to our internet links.  With the 
newly acquired VSAT Data Gateway license, MTC connected to its 
own VSAT internet Gateway and registered an own ASN (Autono-
mous System Number) enabling MTC to advertise our own routes 
to the internet and connect two or more internet providers to our 
internet Gateway. Our international gateway capacity for our 3G 
customers was more than doubled.  MTC believes that the company 
was one of the first companies in Namibia to configure a multi-
homed environment with 3 upstream providers. This was done for 
maximum redundancy and to be ready to take advantage of future 
growth opportunities.  

Another important task in terms of company performance was the mi-
gration from Microsoft Exchange 2003 to the 2007 version and the in-
tegration of that environment to CISCO call manager for Unified com-
munications.  This again is one of the first installations in Namibia.

Major phases for Business Intelligence and Data Warehousing are still 
in production for Post-paid and Pre-paid data since the end of 2008 
and further processes are still ongoing.

Oracle RAC server implementation for some of our most import da-
tabases was achieved and brought MTC a better performance com-
pared to VM environment also providing high availability and seam-
less fail-over.

A project to implement at our ERP a Franchisee Module, allowing 
our franchisees the same working environment and access similar to 
our Mobile Homes and the Repair Centre System, was launched and 
will be finalized during 2009.  The key objective is to ensure that our 
customers are guaranteed a quality customer service underscored by 
excellence.

MTC Billing System Code was upgraded during the year reducing the 
total billing time by 75 percent.
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Technological Environment (continued)
.................................................................................

We can consider 2008 a year of consolidation in processes and pro-
cedures, a year of incredible growth in capacity and increased cus-

tomer usage of our systems.  With some strategic upgrade decisions 
MTC is poised for future evolutions, and revolutions.
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Commercial Operations
...................................................................

The year under review demonstrated MTC’s firm resolve to combat 
any of the competitive pressures that the second mobile operator may 
impose upon the market.

Overall subscribers grew by 35.7% (2007: 33.4%) to 1 008 658 
with Prepaid accounting for 249 585 of that increase.  That repre-
sents 926 416 active Pre-paid connections.  The Post-paid subscriber 
market of MTC reached 82 242, with Connect products forming the 
bulk of the growth, increasing by 43.4%. The real focus on 3G Data 
Products was rewarded with a 109% increase to 5 413 3G Broad-
band Contracts.

Competitive environment
This year was the first full year of the competitor’s operations during 
which MTC matched and exceeded many of their offerings as part of 
our strategy. This was extremely successful in maintaining a respect-
able market share during a potentially vulnerable period. In terms of 
active users, MTC maintained a market share of greater than 90%, 
more than 18 months into a competitive environment.

Products and promotions
MTC has been particularly aggressive in a variety of marketing cam-
paigns with a particular emphasis on both maintaining its customer 
base and determining vulnerable market segments.

The Prepaid product range was enhanced with a number of new 
Classes of Service designed to cater for specific market segments and 
their usage patterns. The first of these was the introduction of Tango 
Free 7 to 12 rate-plan which offered free on-net sms’s between the 
hours of 7pm to 12am each day. This rate-plan was further enhanced 
by offering call rates at 29c per minute after the first full minute. This 
service is very popular amongst the youth, particularly as their sms 
patterns are mainly in the evening.

MTC focused on an internal target of achieving 1 million net sub-
scribers by the end of the calendar year 2008. In order to achieve 
this, incentives were offered to the dealer base and the price of the 
MTC Tango Starterpack was reduced to N$19.99 (including N$19 
worth of airtime). This proved to be the right catalyst and we achieved 
that figure by the financial year-end.

A further innovative rate-plan was introduced to cater for all the ad-
hoc specials that may be introduced from time-to-time. This rate-plan, 
called Tango Special Rate, currently offers 100 sms’s for free the 
entire day after charging only for the first sms. The majority of MTC 
Prepaid customers are now on this rate-plan on their own volition indi-
cating the heightened awareness of MTC promotional activity.

A specialised rate-plan for tertiary students, called Student Top 10, 
has been implemented specifically for students of UNAM and Poly-
technic. This offers calls rated at 29c to their top ten most commonly 
dialled numbers. In addition, these students also enjoy the free 100 
sms’s offered daily. This is a limited offer only to this market.

MTC’s first hybrid package, Fusion, was enthusiastically received by 
the market achieving around 6000 contracts within the first 6 months of 
operation. This product offers a handset valued at over N$1200 and 
Prepaid starterpack at a monthly fixed fee ranging from N$39 to N$59 
(currently over 81% of the contracts are on this option). Customers then 
purchase normal Prepaid airtime to top-up their balances. This offering 
is attractive to corporate customers wishing to limit their account expo-
sure and parents who want control over their children’s usage.

The introduction of Office Box heralds a new option for MTC’s busi-
ness and SME customers by tailoring their voice and data requirements 
in one option. Office Box offers discounts not normally achievable by 
entities of this nature, plus an added benefit of intra-company pref-
erential calling rates.

A Call-Me service was provided for those customers who are not able 
to maintain the minimum balance required to make a call. This service 
is free to Prepaid subscribers and it is designed to generate terminat-
ing calls on the network. The Call-Me service is currently utilised over 
2 million times per week.

It is now industry practice to focus on Broadband data for future growth 
of ARPU (Average Revenue Per User). As is noted above, MTC achieved 
the greatest growth - in percentage terms – in 3G data contracts. These 
figures do not reflect a similar pattern with the introduction of Instant 
Broadband offering the same data experience at similar cost, on the 
Prepaid platform. There is now a 50:50 split in Postpaid | Prepaid 
data usage with around 6 Terrabytes of data being consumed monthly 
on the 3G HSDPA network.

Promotional Campaigns
Promotional campaigns are now a feature of MTC’s product offering 
and are repeated on a regular basis to assure our customers of their 
continued value to MTC. Some examples of promotions are:

•  Fuel campaign – where a random selection of customers who  
 recharged during a certain period was rewarded with N$500  
 in fuel vouchers. This was done at the height of the global fuel  
 price hikes and was well received.
•  N$5 benefit – customers who recharged during the promo- 
 tional period received an extra N$5 in airtime (for all calls).
•  SMS for Free - customers pay the first sms of the day at the  
 standard rate and the next 100 of the day are free.
•  Price of the handset back in air time – specials at the trade  
 fairs of Ongwediva and Windhoek Show created long queues  
 at the MTC Stands.

Rebranding
For the first time in its 13-year history, MTC undertook a complete 
rebranding of its corporate look and logo. The intention was to bring 
the brand up-to-date with the organisation and its capabilities and 
to maintain the sense of belonging that MTC’s customers identified 
with.
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Commercial Operations (continued)
.......................................................................

One of the main attributes of the new brand is the use of an identifi-
able colour and look that is a source pride to all who are associated 
with it. In fact, MTC undertook a nationwide rebranding of many in-
formal resellers of MTC products which was also positively received.

Distribution
MTC opened a further MobileHome store in Keetmanshoop. Within 
three months of operation, this store was within the top 5 revenue-
generators of all stores in the MTC stable. This reflects the pent-up 
demand for a formal store presence. The rebranding and renovations 
of all existing MobileHomes are almost complete.

New stores are planned for Gobabis and Lüderitz during the ensuing 
financial year.

Customer Service
Incoming calls have escalated exponentially from 100 000 per week 
in the previous year, to more than 300 000 per week in the year 
under review. Most of this escalation is attributed to the increased 
promotional activity.  Despite this increase, MTC has by and large 
maintained its current staffing levels.
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Corporate Social 
Investment Programme
...............................................................

MTC has continued to devote significant funds towards its corpo-
rate social investment initiatives during the period under review.  As 
is policy, the company still invests one (1) percent of its total an-
nual turnover which translates into some N$12 million per annum 
to demonstrate its commitment to the communities in which it does 
business.  The split between “commercial” sponsorships (for which 
MTC expects commercial mileage) and its registered charitable Trust 
remain 75/25.

Commercial Sponsorships
MTC regrets to report that, during the period under review, the main 
commercial sponsorship as part of a 5-year commitment (2005-2010) 
towards the Namibia Football Association (NFA), amounting to a total 
of N$ 40 million, was mutually terminated by all partners.  It was 
hailed as the single largest sponsorship in the history of Namibian 
sport but had to sadly end in the fashion that it did.  MTC shared 50% 
of that total with First National Bank of Namibia Ltd (25%) and 
Namibia Breweries Ltd (25%) but the partnership ended due to 
irreconcilable commercial objectives of the partners involved.  MTC, 
however, continues to be the sole sponsor of the Namibia Premier 
League to the tune of N$4.3 million per annum for a further three 
years commencing 2008 football year.  

The other key sporting codes that continue to enjoy significant fund-
ing are Namibian Cricket (N$ 2 million), Namibian Professional 
Golf Association (N$2 million), and Namibia Rugby (N$2 million).  
Individual sporting personalities were Agnes Samaria (athletics), 
Jurgens Strydom (Junior tennis) and Joe Nawanga (Namibia’s only 
black professional golfer).  Both Jurgens Strydom and Agnes Sa-
maria have retired from competitive sport during the period under 
review.

The annual MTC Sport Awards under the auspices of the Namibia 
Sport Commission has also been a significant highlight to conclude 
the sport sponsorship calendar.  MTC had remained a headline spon-
sor of the event for a third year in a row.

The company has also played its part as a major benefactor of the an-
nual Road Safety Campaign “Xupifa Eemwenyo” under the auspices 
of the Motor Vehicle Accident Fund of Namibia.  MTC provides airtime 
(in excess of N$ 10 000) to the organisers and officers on call, usage 
of its Push-to-Talk over cellular services countrywide to roadblocks and 
sponsorship of facilities at the Swakopmund Roadblock.

MTC Foundation
MTC Foundation is a registered charitable trust aimed at mainly 
providing support to Namibia’s Orphans and Vulnerable Children 
(OVC’s).  During 2007/8 financial year, the mandate of the trust 
was widened to cover Information and Communications Technologies 
for development as a critical driver of MTC’s social investment pro-
grammes.  MTC will use its core business as a telecommunications 
operator to assist communities who would otherwise not have access 
to the information superhighway.

Discussions also commenced with the Ministry of Health and Social 
Services through its partners, Social Sciences for Health, to collect 
information on patients taking Anti Retrovirals (ARVs) in the various 
regions of Namibia.  Again, the MTC network will be used to relay 
data to a central depository real-time for reporting and analyses pur-
poses.

In the academic arena two key developments also took shape.  Firstly, 
the MTC Foundation provided support to 12 OVC’s, who are senior 
students at the University of Namibia and the Polytechnic of Namibia, 
studying ICT related subjects.  The support took the form of N$ 200 000 
aimed at augmenting the gaps students experienced in funding for 
their academic programmes. 

On a different note, the Foundation also concluded a three (3)-year 
agreement with the Polytechnic of Namibia to fund a Professorship in 
ICT as a first for Namibia. The professor would be expected to con-
duct research in mobile penetration and usage patterns, ICT diffusion 
and modelling and related areas of academic inquiry. It is anticipated 
that the position will be filled during the 2009 academic year by an 
academic of international standing.

MTC also continues to demonstrate a strong commitment to assist in 
the fight against HIV/AIDS and values a positive living. Our staff are 
engaged in face-to-face counselling in the community, workshops, 
campaigns, distribution of condoms and information material and 
MTC contributes in excess of N$ 200 000 per annum. We believe 
that this is a small way in which we can make a difference for those 
infected and affected by the virus.  

We further support various organisations working in this area as well 
such as Hope Namibia and its community outreach programmes to 
the tune of N$100 000.
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The Human Capital department is tasked with ensuring that the Com-
pany derives maximum benefit from its investment in its human capital.  
It is also the responsibility of the department to ensure that a competi-
tive staff pipeline is readily available, developed and maintained, and 
that a relaxed yet conducive work environment is created to ensure 
maximum employee participation in the company’s operations.  

The past financial year as described below was testimony to yet an-
other exciting and challenging year.

HR Administration
In 2008, HR Admin, in a quest to rid themselves from daily endless 
queries from staff members, took an important step by investing in an 
empowering self service system to the benefit of all MTC staff.  The 
implementation of ESS (Employee Self Service platform), resulted in 
an automated system that allows staff members to take ownership of 
their own details on the system instead of having to make requests to 
HR Admin to do so.

The investment into the system is in line with HR’s strategy to move 
away from the daily paperwork and focus all energies on crafting 
strategy and looking for ways to serve all staff members better. End-
less requests from staff has always been time-consuming for both the 
staff member and HR Admin staff member. Staff are now able to focus 
on their core business, while at their own leisure servicing themselves 
through the system at their own comfort.  The HR department will 
continue to invest in its processes to ensure that better and maximum 
benefit is derived.

Training & Development
The year 2008 was another successful year with regard to Training 
and Development which has been a key ingredient in our Employee 
Value Proposition.  For the very first time, a Microsoft Projects course 
was added to the existing buffet of courses. Being a technologically 
driven company, the need for such courses to keep staff up to date 
was an important step. Training on various Microsoft Office pack-
ages were also given to various staff members to ensure competence 
development.

As part of the roll-out, the department also introduced the Ability Fran-
chise Module to Franchises in the coast to ensure they close their gaps 
in that respect. All staff also received training on the ESS, (Employee 
Self Service) web-based payroll interface, to ensure effective and 
maximum use of the system. Training on internal software packages 
(Omvia/IFS/Ability) continued as in the past. To bid farewell to the 
2008 year, a total of 211 staff members received training of which 
117 were male and 94 females.  The total spend in staff training for 
2008 was N$ 5,348,613.00

Employee Education Assistance
MTC takes a long term view when it comes to staff development.  Ac-
knowledging that its staff members would like to embark on long term 
study courses offered by various Universities and Technicons, the com-

pany has made available, in line with its policy, financial assistance to 
those who would like to pursue academic studies.  The staff member, 
after the completion of every year, provided a pass in his/her studies 
than received full reimbursement of the amount spend for that year. 
This is an incentive to all staff members to develop themselves not just 
for MTC, but for their own futures as well.

Leadership Development
To ensure its leaders are equipped with the most effective Leader-
ship skills, MTC has formed smart strategic partnerships with one of 
Africa’s leading University, Stellenbosch University based in South 
Africa. The partnership ensures that MTC’s managers are placed on 
a tailor-made Leadership Development Programme that ensures they 
understand and implement the fundamental principles when lead-
ing.  In 2008, various Managers graduated from the programme 
and MTC is now reaping the fruits of its investment.  The company 
will continue to identify staff suitable for the programme so that we 
ensure a talent pipeline is in place to sustain the organization in the 
long term.  The total investment in the above programme in 2008 
was N$ 826,250.00 

Bursary Scheme
MTC has continued with its commitment to investing in students that 
show great potential but that are not financially able to further their 
studies. As part of nation-building and developing a competitive Na-
mibian workforce, the company introduced its Bursary Scheme in 
2004.  To date, the programme has already benefitted 33 students 
thus far.  In 2008, 11 students were awarded full bursaries in vari-
ous fields that were deemed necessary not just for MTC, but for the 
Namibian environment as well.  The Bursary Scheme will continue 
in future and allocations will be made to ensure annual awarding of 
bursaries to deserving Namibian students.

Affirmative Action
The Executive Team of MTC understands that Affirmative Action is 
not just a piece of legislation that we have to comply with simply 
because we can.  It is believed that it makes business sense and we 
recognize that transformation is a strategic imperative that will ensure 
we retain our competitive edge in the market place with a workforce 
that is reflective of our country’s demographics.  MTC has continued 
to fully comply, and willfully implement Affirmative Action as per its 3 
year Plan.  We have made great strides in advancing female employ-
ees through the leadership pipeline, although we continue to take on 
the challenge to incorporate more people that are differently-abled 
into the organization.  In 2008, we not only received our annual 
compliance certificate that signifies full compliance, but we were also 
awarded special recognition by the Employment Equity Commissioner 
for the Best Prize, an award given to a company that has consistently 
and with excellence complied with the requirements and ideals of this 
important legislation.  

To date, MTC has a ratio of 190 male versus 174 female staff mem-
bers, and will continue to keep a favourable balance not just male 

Human Capital
...........................................
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versus females, but persons that are differently-abled, and persons 
from previously disadvantaged groups as well.

Workforce Profile
MTC’s current workforce profile is as follows; 163 racially disadvan-
taged males and 156 females.  We currently have 19 racially advan-
taged males and 27 racially advantaged females. We have 1 person 

who is differently-abled and 8 non Namibians which gives us a total 
staff compliment of 364 (as at 30 March 2008). 

SO 9001:2008
Following the 2007 organizational realignment, MTC committed to re-
engineering its policies and operational processes in order to achieve 
ISO 9001: 2008, the International Standard for Quality. The project 
is underway, with the final auditing date set for March 2009.

Human Capital (continued)
..........................................................
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One Million reasons to celebrate
...............................................................................................

 a one in a million commercial
  .....................................................................................................................

.........................................................

1 million customers
1 big idea

6 weeks of production
4 creatives on the road

1 awesome director
27 people in the crew
2 tons of equipment

4 locations all over Namibia
5 724 kms travelled

612 extras
40 degrees in Oshakati

112 mosquito bites
Uncounted cases of sunburn

1 goat
10 hours of footage

2 311 minutes of MTC airtime spent
.........................................................

Once word got out that MTC was about to 
celebrate one million customers in Namibia, 
it’s advertising agency, Advantage Y&R, knew 
something special had to be done to celebrate 
this significant milestone in Namibia’s and 
MTC’s history. 

In light of the huge significance of the commer-
cial, Advantage appointed a professional direc-
tor backed by an experienced Namibian crew 
to produce a first-ever, world-class Namibian 
commercial. The “one-in-a-million” commercial 
was to depict the unique and diverse Namibian 
landscape and its people.

The objective of the commercial was to cel-
ebrate one million customers in a country with 
a population of only 2.2 Million! 

The commercial formed part of a national cam-
paign for MTC and is to date the biggest com-
mercial production, produced and shot by a 
Namibian company, for Namibian television. 
Also, a new kind of digital camera, called the 
RED ONE, added fantastic creative possibili-
ties to the job. Cast included professional Na-
mibian actors and more than 600 enthusiastic 
extras. The commercial was shot entirely on lo-

cation in Namibia, from the modern cityscapes 
of Windhoek, to the Makalani lined skyline of 
Oshakati to the impressive scale and buzzing 
activity of the dry docks at WalvisBay Harbour. 
The commercial also included scenes from the 
endless shifting sands of the Namibian desert. 

The production covered roughly 5 700 kms 
during the week of filming and, apart from a 
couple of cases of sunburn and a few mosquito 
bites, shooting wrapped up successfully. 

The final product is a high quality, world-class 
television commercial, depicting the best of 
Namibia and its people. It has been running 
on Namibian television since last year. Shoot-
ing logistics also included closing the ever 
busy Independence Avenue for an entire day 
as well as painting and decorating an entire 
village in the north of the country. Camera an-
gles played an important role in the commer-
cial and cameramen shot from cranes, planes 
and from the top of a building. The 27 crew 
members had to lug around over two tons of 
equipment during filming. 

Photos: www.power&gloryfilms.com
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The Financial year under review
..........................................................................................

Subscriber growth
MTC has managed to grow the subscriber base by 35.7% (2007: 33.4%) for the financial year ended September 2008, despite competitive pres-
sure. This resulted in a total active customer base of 1 008 658 subscribers (2007: 743 509).

 
                                     MTC subscribers  Subscriber growth rate

Key financial indicators

MTC reported growth in revenue during the financial year of 13.0% (2007: 18.8%). The growth was driven by an increase in the subscriber base.  
Pre-paid revenue was the main revenue driver.  Under the same period EBITDA reached N$ 627 million (2007: 584 million) or 49,9%(2007: 52%) 
of total revenue, which resulted in a growth of 7.5% (2007: 2.7%) year on year.
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Highlights            
   % 

change   
% 

change
  % 

change   
% 

change   
% 

change

 Revenue   687,316   36.5%   769,422   11.9%   936,809   21.8%   1,112,746   18.8%   1,257,089   12.9% 

 EBITDA   401,782   74.4%   494,415   23.1%   568,116   14.9%   583,566   2.7%   627,100   7.5%

 Net Income   235,326   56.5%   292,305   24.2%   337,236   15.4%   339,627   0.7%   357,723   5.3%

 DPS - cent   320   68.4%   440   37.5%   320   -27.3%   980   206.3%   883   -9.9%  
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The Financial year under review (continued)
........................................................................................

Revenue Composition

 
                                 Composition 2007                                                                                             Composition 2008

As a result of segmentation of the customer base and segment-based promotion, MTC managed to grow post-paid revenue with increased sub-
scriber numbers.  The change in Revenue composition partly reflects the effects of the introduction of VAT on prepaid as from 1 February 2008 but 
also major commercial activity in growing the postpaid customer base.

EBITDA
EBITDA (Earnings before interest, tax, depreciation and amortization) increased in monetary value from N$ 584 million (2007) to N$ 627 million 
but decreased the EBITDA margin by 2% as a result of an increase in cost and pressure on sales margins.

 
 
                         Revenue vs EBITDA (^ 000 000) EBITDA Margins
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The Financial year under review (continued)
........................................................................................

Capital Expenditure
Capital expenditure amounted to a slowdown compared to the previous financial year, but still encompasses a substantial amount of net income af-
ter tax.  All capital expenditure is incurred at the ruling exchange rate on the balance sheet date. As a result of the fluctuation of the Namibian dollar 
for the year under review, capital expenditure in any year can only be accurately compared when taking into account the exchange variances. 

 
 
                 Capex vs Net profit after tax (^ 000 000) Capital Expenditure as a % of Net income after tax

The major portion of investment was done on the technical side to guarantee quality service for our customers.  The enhancements included the 
following: IN upgrade; improvements in SMS capacity; deploying of own radio backbone and the replacement of the switching equipment with a 
next generation soft switch.  As a result of a positive cash flow all capital projects were funded out of own resources.

Accounting Environment
The financial statements are compliant with International Financial Reporting Standard (IFRS).

                Dividends and tax paid NAD’s (^ 000 000)                                                             NAD’s (^ 000 000)

The accumulative taxation paid for the period 2003 until 2008 amounted N$ 753 million and dividends to the amount of N$ 738 million. This 
remarkable achievement was without any new long or short-term borrowing as from 2005, due to sufficient cash generated by the operations.
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From left to right, top to bottom:

S Motinga (Chairman)

A C Nakale-Kawana

F J Azevedo Padinha (Alternate Director) (*)

(appointed 19/11/07) 

S Black

P U Kauta

C Moreira Da Cruz (*)

A M Ferreira Geraldes (Managing Director) (*)

* Portuguese

Board of Directors
......................................................
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Annual Financial Statements 
at 30 September 2008

.............................................................

Business      
Provision of a cellular network and 
related services in Namibia     
        
Secretary       
P A Francis     
        
   
Country of incorporation      
Namibia     
        
   
Registered office      
Corner of Hamutenya Wanehepo Ndadi &    
Mose Tjitendero Street 
Olympia, Windhoek 
Namibia 
P O Box 23051
      

Auditors      
Deloitte & Touche     
        
   
Bankers      
Bank Windhoek Limited     
First National Bank of Namibia Limited    
Standard Bank Namibia Limited     
Nedbank Namibia Limited     
Nampost Savings Bank     
        
   
Registration number      
94/458     
        
   
Holding company       
Namibia Post and 
Telecommunications Holdings Limited
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Statement of Responsibility by the Directors
for the year ended 30 September 2008

...............................................................................................

The directors are responsible for monitoring the preparation of and 
the integrity of the financial statements and other information con-
tained in this annual report.     
  
In order for the board to discharge its responsibilities, management 
has developed and continues to maintain a system of internal control. 
The board has ultimate responsibility for the system of internal controls 
and reviews its operation primarily through the audit committee.  
        

The internal controls include a risk-based system of internal accounting 
and administrative controls designed to provide reasonable assurance 
that assets are safeguarded and that transactions are executed and 
recorded in accordance with generally accepted business practices 
and the group’s policies and procedures. These controls are imple-
mented by trained, skilled personnel with an appropriate segregation 
of duties, monitored by management and include a comprehensive 
budgeting and reporting system operating within strict deadlines and 
an appropriate control framework.     
    
The financial statements are prepared in accordance with Internation-
al Financial Reporting Standards and incorporate responsible disclo-
sure in line with the accounting philosophy of the group. The financial 

statements are based on appropriate accounting policies consistently 
applied and supported by reasonable and prudent judgements and 
estimates.      
The directors believe that the company will be a going concern in the 
year ahead. For this reason they continue to adopt the going concern 
basis in preparing the annual financial statements.   
       
The annual financial statements for the year ended 30 September 
2008 set out on pages 24 to 56 were approved by the Board of 
Directors on        
    
8 December 2008 and are signed on its behalf by:   
       
        
   
        
   
        
   
        
   
_________________________                _________________________

DIRECTOR          DIRECTOR

S Motinga        A M F Geraldes
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Independent Auditor’s Report to the Members 
of Mobile Telecommunications Limited

................................................................................................

We have audited the group annual financial statements and annual 
financial statements of Mobile Telecommunications Limited, which 
comprise the consolidated and separate balance sheets as at 30 
September 2008, and the consolidated and separate income state-
ments, the consolidated and separate statements of changes in equity 
and consolidated and separate cash flow statements for the year then 
ended, and a summary of significant accounting policies and other 
explanatory notes as set out on pages 24 to 56.   
        
Director’s Responsibility for the Financial Statements 
The company’s directors are responsible for the preparation and fair 
presentation of these financial statements in accordance with Inter-
national Financial Reporting Standards and in the manner required 
by the Companies Act of Namibia. This responsibility includes: de-
signing, implementing and maintaining internal control relevant to the 
preparation and fair presentation of financial statements that are free 
from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error; selecting 
and applying appropriate accounting policies; and making account-
ing estimates that are reasonable in the circumstances.   
       
Auditor’s Responsibility     
Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these financial state-
ments based on our audit. We conducted our audit in accordance 
with International Standards on Auditing. Those standards require that 
we comply with ethical requirements and plan and perform the audit 
to obtain reasonable assurance whether the financial statements are 
free from material misstatement.     
      
An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence 
about the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements. The 
procedures selected depend on the auditor’s judgement, including 
the assessment of the risks of material misstatement of the financial 
statements, whether due to fraud or error. In making those risk assess-
ments, the auditor considers internal control relevant to the entity’s 
preparation and fair presentation of the financial statements in order 

to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, 
but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness 
of the entity’s internal control. An audit also includes evaluating the 
appropriateness of accounting principles used and the reasonable-
ness of accounting estimates made by management, as well as evalu-
ating the overall presentation of the financial statements.  
        

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and 
appropriate to provide a basis for our audit opinion.   
     
Opinion       
In our opinion, these financial statements present fairly, in all material 
respects, the consolidated and separate financial position of Mobile 
Telecommunications Limited as at 30 September 2008, and its con-
solidated and separate financial performance and consolidated and 
separate cash flows for the year then ended in accordance with Inter-
national Financial Reporting Standards, and in the manner required 
by the Companies Act of Namibia.     
      
        
Deloitte & Touche       
Registered Accountants and Auditors    
Chartered Accountants (Namibia)      
      
        
   

Per: Jens Kock      
Partner        
Windhoek       
28 January 2009
    
       

        
   



page 24 MTC ANNUAL REPORT 2008

Report of the Directors for the year ended 
30 September 2008

...........................................................................................

The directors herewith submit their report which forms part of the an-
nual financial statements of the company and the group annual fi-
nancial statement for the financial year ended 30 September 2008. 
        
Nature of Business     
MTC conducts business as a registered telecommunications provider. 
The principle nature of the business is to invest in the telecommunica-
tions infrastructure of Namibia for provisioning of total communica-
tion solutions to the customer base. Although MTC is an autonomous 
Namibian company, it also provides international telecommunication 
solutions through direct liaison with providers of telecommunication 
services worldwide. The nature of the business did not change during 
the year under review.      
     
The following business activities are conducted through subsidiaries: 
Jurgens 34 (Pty) Ltd (Letting of property)    
Windhoek General Administrators (Dormant)   
MTC Social Responsibility Trust (Trust established to harness resourc-
es for establishing and maintaining infrastructure with the principal 
focus on the care, welfare and support for orphans or children who 
can not rely on the support of their parents and are homeless).  
       
Financial results      
The results of operations are set out on page 25.   

The financial position of the group is set out in the balance sheets on 
page 26.       
     
Group revenue for the year under review was N$1 257,1 million (2007: 
N$1 112,7 million) representing a growth of 13 % over the prior year 
which was mainly as a result of the growth of the subscriber base and 
the launch of new products and services. Group net profit from opera-
tions increased by N$ 11,9 million ( 2007: N$ 14,7 million) mainly due 
to the increased sales and proper debtors management.   

Subscriber base 2008 2007

Prepaid 926 416  676 831 
Postpaid 82 242   66 678  
Total 1 008 658   743 509

Share capital   
The authorised and issued share capital remained unchanged during 
the year under review. Details of the authorised, issued and unissued 
share capital at 30 September 2008 are set out in note 17 to the 
financial statements.    

Shareholding 2008 2007
Namibia Post and 
Telecommunications Holdings Limited 66% 66% 
Africatel Holdings B.V.  34% 34% 
Total 100% 100%

Dividends distributed 2008 2007
 N$ ‘000 N$ ‘000
Declared 14 December 2006 
paid 15 December 2006 -    165 000
Declared 28 May 2007 
paid 25 June 2007  -    80 000 
Declared 30 November 2007 
paid 14 December 2007 89,814   - 
Declared 24 June 2008 
paid 15 July 2008 86 460   - 
Declared 24 June 2008 
paid 21 July 2008 44 540   - 
Total 220,814   245 000  
   
Dividend declared subsequent to year end 
On 8 December 2008, a dividend of N$ 181 508 000 was de-
clared, but has not yet been paid out to the shareholders.  
 
Capital Expenditure
For the year under review, capital expenditure approved was 
N$ 245,0 million (2007: N$226,0 million) which included capital 
expenditure carried forward from the previous financial year. The ex-
penditure was funded out of internal cash generated from operations, 
with the main aim to ensure capacity in the existing network and 
extensive coverage within Namibia.   
 
Property, plant and equipment 
There has been no change in the nature or use of the group’s and 
company’s property, plant and equipment.   
 
Subsidiaries   
Details of the company’s interest in its subsidiaries at 30 September 
2008 are set out on page 42 in note 12.

Directors and secretary     
On 19 November 2007,  Mr Fransisco Jose Azevedo Padinha 
was appointed as director. Mr Fernando Cesor Aires Mesquita 
resigned on 19 November 2007.     
      
There were no other changes to the composition of the board during 
the year.        
       
Particulars of the present directors and secretary are given on page 20. 
        
Subsequent events 
No events or circumstances which materially affect the interpreta-
tion of the financial statements have arisen between 30 September 
2008 and the date of this report.     
        
    
    
       

.........................................................................

.........................................................................

.........................................................................

.........................................................................

.........................................................................

.........................................................................
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Income Statements for the year ended 
30 September 2008

...............................................................................

            GROUP                                            COMPANY       
 
   Notes 2008  2007  2008  2007 
   N$’000  N$’000  N$’000  N$’000 
.............................................................................................................................................................................................
REVENUE 3 1,257,089   1,112,746   1,257,089   1,112,746 

OTHER INCOME  2,992   5,016   3,185   5,191 .............................................................................................................................................................................................
TOTAL INCOME  1,260,081   1,117,762   1,260,274   1,117,937

Changes in inventories of finished goods  89,974   75,825   89,974   75,825 
Direct costs  262,322   218,509   262,322   218,509 
Sales and marketing  90,073   65,596   90,073   65,594 
General and administration  70,638   58,059   73,320   58,230 
Personnel costs  119,974   116,207   119,974   116,209
Depreciation  108,897   73,446   108,823   73,372
Amortisation  12,806   16,635   12,806   16,635............................................................................................................................................................................................. 
PROFIT FROM OPERATIONS 3  505,397   493,485   502,982   493,563 

Finance income 4  33,325   23,349   33,195   23,337 
Finance costs 5  301   174   261   174............................................................................................................................................................................................. 
PROFIT BEFORE TAXATION  538,421   516,660   535,916   516,726

Taxation 7  180,698   177,033   179,736   177,037 .............................................................................................................................................................................................
PROFIT FOR THE YEAR  357,723   339,627   356,180   339,689  ............. ............. ............. .............

Attributable to:     

Equity holders of the company  357 723   339 627   356 180   339 689  ............. ............. ............. .............

EARNINGS PER SHARE (Cents) 8     
- Basic and diluted  1 430,9  1 358,5  1 424,7  1 358,8 

DIVIDENDS PAID PER SHARE (Cents)  883    980    883    980
............................................................................................................................................................................................. 
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Balance Sheets as at 30 September 2008
...................................................................................

            GROUP                                            COMPANY       
 
   Notes 2008  2007  2008  2007 
   N$’000  N$’000  N$’000  N$’000 
.............................................................................................................................................................................................
ASSETS .............................................................................................................................................................................................
NON-CURRENT ASSETS
Property, plant and equipment 9  913,895   738,533   910,999   735,563
Intangible assets 11  55,989   63,400   55,989   63,400 
Investment in subsidiaries 12  -     -     2,153   2,102.............................................................................................................................................................................................
  969,884   801,933   969,141   801,065............................................................................................................................................................................................. 
CURRENT ASSETS     
Shareholder loans 13  -     3,135   -     3,135 
Inventories 14  52,919   86,985   52,919   86,985 
Trade and other receivables 15  167,162   186,311   166,871   186,103 
Taxation  -     32,938   -     32,720 
Cash and cash equivalents 16  418,397   217,278   414,918   217,125............................................................................................................................................................................................. 
   638,478   526,647   634,708   526,068............................................................................................................................................................................................. 
TOTAL ASSETS  1,608,362   1,328,580   1,603,849   1,327,133.............................................................................................................................................................................................  

.............................................................................................................................................................................................  
EQUITY AND LIABILITIES.............................................................................................................................................................................................
CAPITAL AND RESERVES     
Share capital 17  25,000   25,000   25,000   25,000 
Retained income  1,110,583   973,674   1,108,333   972,967.............................................................................................................................................................................................  
Total equity  1,135,583   998,674   1,133,333   997,967.............................................................................................................................................................................................  
NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES     
Deferred taxation 18  185,761   160,050   185,561   159,824.............................................................................................................................................................................................  
  185,761   160,050   185,561   159,824.............................................................................................................................................................................................   
CURRENT LIABILITIES     
Trade and other payables 19  208,925   116,748   207,799   116,234 
Unused pre-paid vouchers 20  65,216   52,294   65,216   52,294 
Taxation  11,048   -     10,111   -   
Shareholder loans 13  1,829   814   1,829   814.............................................................................................................................................................................................  
   287,018   169,856   284,955   169,342.............................................................................................................................................................................................   
TOTAL EQUITY AND LIABILITIES  1,608,362   1,328,580   1,603,849   1,327,133.............................................................................................................................................................................................  
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Statements of Changes in Equity 
for the year ended 30 September 2008
..............................................................................

GROUP                                                
 
   Share  Retained Total
   capital income   
    N$’000  N$’000  N$’000 

Balance at 30 September, 2006   25 000   879 047   904 047 
Profit for the year   -   339 627   339 627 
Ordinary dividends   -  ( 245 000) ( 245 000).............................................................................................................................................................................................
Balance at 30 September, 2007   25 000   973 674   998 674 
Profit for the year   -   357 723   357 723 
Ordinary dividends   -  ( 220 814) ( 220 814).............................................................................................................................................................................................
Balance at 30 September, 2008   25 000  1 110 583  1 135 583.............................................................................................................................................................................................

COMPANY     

Balance at 30 September, 2006   25 000   878 278   903 278 
Profit for the year   -   339 689   339 689 
Ordinary dividends   -  ( 245 000) ( 245 000).............................................................................................................................................................................................
Balance at 30 September, 2007   25 000   972 967   997 967 
Profit for the year   -   356 180   356 180 
Ordinary dividends   -  ( 220 814) ( 220 814).............................................................................................................................................................................................
Balance at 30 September, 2008   25 000  1 108 333  1 133 333.............................................................................................................................................................................................
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Cash Flow Statements for the year ended
 30 September 2008

......................................................................................

            GROUP                                            COMPANY       
 
   Notes 2008  2007  2008  2007 
   N$’000  N$’000  N$’000  N$’000 
.............................................................................................................................................................................................
CASH FLOWS FROM              
OPERATING ACTIVITIES.............................................................................................................................................................................................
Cash receipts from customers  1,279,230   1,045,842   1,279,506   1,046,017 
Cash paid to suppliers and employees  (490,506)  (533,900)  (493,800)  (534,044)         ....................................................................................................................
Cash generated from operations 21.1 788,724   511,942   785,706   511,973 
Interest paid  (301)  (174)  (261)  (174)
Interest received  33,325   23,349   33,195   23,337 
Taxation paid 21.2 (111,001)  (149,987)  (111,168)  (149,967).............................................................................................................................................................................................
Net cash flows     
from operating activities  710,747   385,130   707,472   385,169.............................................................................................................................................................................................
CASH FLOWS FROM     
INVESTING ACTIVITIES.............................................................................................................................................................................................
Purchase of property, plant and equipment  (286,383)  (339,939)  (286,383)  (339,939)
Acquisitions of intangible assets  (5,395)  (6,584)  (5,395)  (6,584)
Proceeds on disposal of property, plant and equipment 1,031   95   1,031   95 
Net movement in subsidiary company loan  -     -     (51)  78 
Net movement in shareholders loan  4,150   1,065   4,150   1,065.............................................................................................................................................................................................
Net cash flows     
from investing activities  (286,597)  (345,363)  (286,648)  (345,285) .............................................................................................................................................................................................
CASH FLOWS FROM     
FINANCING ACTIVITIES.............................................................................................................................................................................................
Dividends paid  (220,814)  (245,000)  (220,814)  (245,000).............................................................................................................................................................................................
Net cash flows     
from financing activities  (220,814)  (245,000)  (220,814)  (245,000) .............................................................................................................................................................................................
NET CHANGE IN CASH AND     
CASH EQUIVALENTS  203,336   (205,233)  200,010  (205,116)
NET FOREIGN EXCHANGE DIFFERENCES  (2,217)  (1,804)  (2,217)  (1,804)
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS     
AT BEGINNING OF YEAR  217,278   424,315   217,125   424,045.............................................................................................................................................................................................
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS     
AT END OF YEAR 16 418,397   217,278   414,918   217,125.............................................................................................................................................................................................
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1. ACCOUNTING POLICIES    

1.1 Basis of preparation     

The financial statements set out on pages 24 to 55 are prepared on 
a going concern basis using the historical cost basis, except for finan-
cial assets and liabilities recorded at fair value. All monetary informa-
tion and figures presented in these financial statements are stated in 
thousands of Namibia Dollar (N$ ‘000), since that is the currency 
in which the majority of the group’s transactions are denominated. 
The policies applied are consistent with those applied in the previous 
year.         

 Statement of compliance    
The financial statements of the company and group have been prepared 
in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRSs) 
and the requirements of the Companies Act of Namibia.

 Changes in accounting policy and disclosures  
The accounting policies adopted by the group are consistent with 
those of the previous financial year except as follows:  

The group has adopted the following new and amended IFRS and 
IFRIC interpretations during the year. The adoption of these revised 
standards and interpretations did not have any effect on the financial 
performance or position of the group. They did however give rise to 
additional disclosures, including in some cases, revision to accounting 
policies.       
The principal effect of these changes are as follows:  

 IFRS 7 Financial Instruments : Disclosures  
This standard requires disclosures that enable the users of the financial 
statements to evaluate the significance of the group’s financial instru-
ments and the nature and extent of risks arising form those financial 
instruments. The new disclosures are included throughout the financial 
statements. While there has been no effect on the financial position or 
results, comparative information has been revised where needed. 

 IAS 1 Amendment to IAS 1: Capital Disclosures  
This amendment requires the group to make new disclosures to enable 
users of financial statements to evaluate the group’s objectives, poli-
cies and processes for managing capital. These new disclosures are 
shown in Note 25.4.     

 Basis of consolidation     
The group annual financial statements consolidate the financial state-
ments of the company and all subsidiaries as of 30 September each 
year.  The financial statements of the subsidiaries are prepared for the 
same reporting year as the parent company, using consistent account-
ing policies.      

Subsidiaries are defined as those companies in which the group, 
either directly or indirectly, has more than one half of the voting rights, 

has the right to appoint more than half the board of directors or oth-
erwise has the power to control the financial and operating activities 
of the entity. All entities which the group has the ability to control are 
consolidated from the effective dates of acquisition, being the date the 
group obtains control, up to the dates effective control is ceased.

The identifiable assets and liabilities of companies acquired are as-
sessed and included in the balance sheet at their fair values as at the 
date of acquisition.     

The company carries its investments in subsidiaries at cost less accu-
mulated impairment losses.    

All intragroup transactions and balances are eliminated on consolida-
tion.         
 
 Set off      
Assets and liabilities are offset, if a legally enforceable right exists to 
set off current assets against current liabilities. Deferred tax assets and 
deferred tax liabilities are offset, if a legally enforceable right exists to 
set off current tax assets against current tax liabilities and the deferred 
taxes relate to the same taxable entity and the same taxation authority. 
        

1.2 Significant accounting judgements and estimations

 Judgements made by management  
Preparing financial statements in conformity with IFRS requires esti-
mates and assumptions that affect reported amounts and related 
disclosures. Actual results could differ from these estimates. Certain 
accounting policies have been identified as involving particularly 
complex or subjective judgements or assessments, as follows: 

 Estimation of airtime paid for, but never loaded 
Customer purchased airtime is sometimes never loaded due to custom-
ers losing or damaging the related card prior to loading the airtime. 
Significant management judgement is required in determining the 
average ratio of ‘airtime sold, but not loaded’ to ‘total airtime sold’ 
when recognising revenue from such cards.   

 Asset lives and residual values  
Property, plant and equipment is depreciated over its useful life taking 
into account residual values, where appropriate. The actual lives of 
the assets and residual values are assessed annually and may vary 
depending on a number of factors. In reassessing asset lives, factors 
such as technological innovation and maintenance programmes are 
taken into account. Residual value assessments consider issues such as 
future market conditions, the remaining life of the asset and projected 
disposal values.



page 30 MTC ANNUAL REPORT 2008

Notes to the Financial Statements at 30 September 2008 (continued)
...........................................................................................

1.3 Summary of significant accounting policies  

 Impairment of non financial assets  
Property, plant and equipment are considered for impairment if there 
is a reason to believe that impairment may be necessary. Factors 
taken into consideration in reaching such a decision include the eco-
nomic viability of the asset itself and where it is a component of a 
larger economic unit, the viability of that unit itself.  Future cash flows 
expected to be generated by the assets are projected, taking into ac-
count market conditions and the expected useful lives of the assets. 
The present value of these cash flows, determined using an appropri-
ate discount rate, is compared to the current net asset value and, if 
lower, the assets are impaired to the present value.  

 Impairment of intangible assets   
The group determines whether intangible assets are impaired at least 
on an annual basis. This requires estimation of the value in use of the 
intangible assets. Estimating the value in use requires the group to 
make an estimate of the future cash flows associated with the respec-
tive assets and also to choose a suitable discount rate in order to 
calculate the present value of those cash flows.  
 
 Sources of estimation uncertainty   
There are no key assumptions concerning the future and other key sourc-
es of estimation uncertainty at the balance sheet date that management 
have assessed as having a significant risk of causing material adjust-
ment to the carrying amounts of the assets and liabilities within the next 
financial year, except for the assumptions and key sources of estimation 
uncertainty with regard to retention bonuses as disclosed in note 6. 
    
 Property, plant and equipment   
Property, plant and equipment is stated at cost less accumulated de-
preciation and accumulated impairment losses. Such cost includes the 
cost of replacing part of the plant and equipment when that cost is 
incurred, if the recognition criteria are met. Likewise, when a major 
inspection is performed, its cost is recognised in the carrying amount 
of the plant and euipment as a replacement if the recognition crite-
ria are satisfied. Certain internal costs, such as materials, work force 
and transportation, incurred to build or produce tangible assets are 
capitalized if the recognition criteria are satisfied. All other repair and 
maintenance costs are recognised in profit or loss as incurred. 

Depreciation is calculated so as to write off the cost of property, plant 
and equipment on a straight line basis, over the estimated useful life 
of the asset to its residual value. Land is not depreciated. Capital work 
in progress is not depreciated as these assets are not yet available for 
use. Depreciation rates used are:  
 
 2008 2007         
 per annum per annum
Buildings 2 % 2 %
Computer and prepaid equipment 20 - 33.3 % 10 - 33.3 %
Network equipment 20 - 33.3 % 5 - 20 %

 2008 2007         
 per annum per annum
Motor vehicles 25 % 25 %
Furniture and fittings 20% 20 - 50 %
Leasehold improvements 33.3 % 33.3 %

Residual values, useful lives and methods are reviewed, and adjusted 
if appropriate, at each financial year end. 

The carrying values of property, plant and equipment are reviewed 
for impairment when events or changes in circumstances indicate the 
carrying value may not be recoverable.  If any such indication ex-
ists and where the carrying values exceed the estimated recoverable 
amount, the assets or cash-generating units are written down to their 
recoverable amount.  The recoverable amount of property, plant and 
equipment is the greater of net selling price and value in use.  In as-
sessing value in use, the estimated future cash flows are discounted 
to their present value using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects current 
market assessments of the time value of money and the risks specific to 
the asset. Each significant component included in an item of property, 
plant and equipment is separately recorded and depreciated. The 
depreciation rates corresponds to the estimated average useful lives 
of the respective assets.  For an asset that does not generate largely in-
dependent cash inflows, the recoverable amount is determined for the 
cash-generating unit to which the asset belongs.  Impairment losses 
are recognised in the income statement.   

An item of property, plant and equipment is derecognised upon dis-
posal or when no future economic benefits are expected to arise from 
the continued use of the asset. Any gain or loss arising on derecogni-
tion of the asset is included in the income statement in the year the 
item is derecognised.   

General and special purpose buildings are generally classified as 
owner occupied. They are held at cost and depreciated as property, 
plant and equipment and not regarded as investment properties.

 Intangible assets
Intangible assets acquired separately are measured on initial recognition 
at cost. Following initial recognition, intangible assets are carried at cost 
less any accumulated amortisation and any accumulated impairment 
losses. Intangible assets are recognised if any future economic benefits 
are expected and those benefits could be reliably measured. Intangible 
assets consist of software licences. The amortisation rate used is:  

 2008  2007   
 per annum per annum
Software licences 20 - 33.3 % 20 - 33.3 % 

Changes in the expected useful life of the asset is accounted for by 
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changing the amortisation period, as appropriate, and treated as 
changes in accounting estimates.
 
 Borrowing costs    
Borrowing costs are recognised as an expense when incurred. 

 Investments and other financial assets  
Financial assets within the scope of IAS 39 : Financial Instruments are 
classified as either financial assets at fair value through profit or loss, 
loans and receivables, held to maturity investments, and available for 
sale financial assets, as appropriate. When financial assets are rec-
ognised initially, they are measured at fair value, plus, in the case of 
investments not at fair value through profit or loss, directly attributable 
transaction costs.     

The Group determines the classification of its financial assets after 
initial recognition and, where allowed and appropriate, re-evaluates 
this designation at each financial year end.  

 Loans and receivables   
Loans and receivables are non-derivative financial assets with fixed or 
determinable payments that are not quoted in an active market. After 
initial measurement loans and receivables are subsequently carried 
at amortised cost using the effective interest method less any allow-
ance for impairment. Amortised cost is calculated taking into account 
any discount or premium on acquisition and includes fees that are an 
integral part of the effective interest rate and transaction costs. Gains 
and losses are recognised in the income statement when the loans 
and receivables are derecognised or impaired, as well as through the 
amortisation process.     
 
 Fair value     
The fair value of investments that are actively traded in organised 
financial markets is determined by reference to quoted market bid 
prices at the close of business on the balance sheet date. For invest-
ments where there is no active market, fair value is determined us-
ing valuation techniques. Such techniques include using recent arm’s 
length market transactions; reference to the current market value of 
another instrument, which is substantially the same; discounted cash 
flow analysis or other valuation models.   
 
 Impairment of financial assets   
The Group assesses at each balance sheet date whether a financial 
asset or group of financial assets is impaired. 

 Assets carried at amortised cost  
If there is objective evidence that an impairment loss on loans and 
receivables carried at amortised cost has been incurred, the amount 
of the loss is measured as the difference between the asset’s carrying 
amount and the present value of estimated future cash flows (excluding 

Notes to the Financial Statements at 30 September 2008 (continued)
...........................................................................................

future credit losses that have not been incurred) discounted at the finan-
cial asset’s original effective interest rate (ie the effective interest rate 
computed at initial recognition). The carrying amount of the asset shall 
be reduced either directly or through use of an allowance account. The 
amount of the loss shall be recognised in the income statement.   
   
The Group first assesses whether objective evidence of impairment ex-
ists individually for financial assets that are significant, and individu-
ally or collectively for financial assets that are not significant. If it is 
determined that no objective evidence of impairment exists for an indi-
vidually assessed financial asset, whether significant or not, the asset 
is included in a group of financial assets with similar credit risk char-
acteristics and that group of financial assets is collectively assessed for 
impairment. Assets that are individually assessed for impairment and 
for which an impairment loss is or continues to be recognised are not 
included in a collective assessment of impairment. 

If, in a subsequent period, the amount of the impairment loss decreases 
and the decrease can be related objectively to an event occurring after 
the impairment was recognised, the previously recognised impairment 
loss is reversed. Any subsequent reversal of an impairment loss is rec-
ognised in the income statement, to the extent that the carrying value 
of the asset does not exceed its amortised cost at the reversal date. 
    
In relation to trade receivables a provision for impairment is made 
when there is objective evidence (such as the probability of insolvency 
or significant financial difficulties of the debtor) that the Group will not 
be able to collect all of the amounts due under the original terms of 
the invoice. The carrying amount of the receivable is reduced through 
use of an allowance account. Impaired debts are derecognised when 
they are assessed as uncollectible.

 Inventories     
Inventories are valued at the lower of cost and net realisable value.

Cost is determined using the average cost per item purchased during 
the financial year.    

Net realisable value is the estimated selling price in the ordinary 
course of business, less estimated costs of completion and the esti-
mated costs necessary to make the sale.   

 Cash and cash equivalents   
Cash and short term deposits in the balance sheet comprise cash at 
banks and at hand and short term deposits with an original maturity 
of three months or less.     

For the purpose of the consolidated cash flow statement, cash and 
cash equivalents consist of cash and cash equivalents as defined 
above, net of outstanding bank overdrafts. 
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 Financial liabilities     
Financial liabilities are measured at amortised cost where a maturity 
date exists, or cost if no maturity date exists.   

Amortised cost is calculated on the effective interest rate method. 
Gains and losses on subsequent measurement are taken to the income 
statement.
 
 Derecognition of financial assets and liabilities  
 Financial assets
A financial asset is derecognised when the rights to receive cash flows 
from the asset have expired. 

 Financial liabilities   
A financial liability is derecognised when the obligation under the 
liability is discharged or cancelled or expires.  

 Provisions    
Provisions are recognised when the group has a present obligation 
(legal or constructive) as a result of a past event, it is probable that an 
outflow of resources embodying economic benefits will be required to 
settle the obligation and a reliable estimate can be made of the amount 
of the obligation. Where the group expects some or all of a provision 
to be reimbursed, for example under an insurance contract, the reim-
bursement is recognised as a separate asset but only when the reim-
bursement is virtually certain. The expense relating to any provision 
is presented in the income statement net of any reimbursement. If the 
effect of the time value of money is material, provisions are discounted 
using a current pre tax rate that reflects, where appropriate, the risks 
specific to the liability. Where discounting is used, the increase in the 
provision due to the passage of time is recognised as a finance cost. 
    
 Post employment benefits  
 Defined contribution plans   
Contributions in respect of defined contribution plans are recognised 
as an expense in the year to which they relate.

 Leases     
The determination of whether an arrangement is, or contains a lease 
is based on the substance of the arrangement and requires an assess-
ment of whether the fulfilment of the arrangement is dependent on the 
use of a specific asset or assets and the arrangement conveys a right 
to use the asset.      
 
 Group as lessee    
Finance leases, which transfer to the group substantially all the risks 
and benefits incidental to ownership of the leased item, are capital-
ised at the inception of the lease at the fair value of the leased prop-
erty or, if lower, at the present value of the minimum lease payments. 
There are no finance leases.

Leases of assets are classified as operating leases if the lessor effec-
tively retains all the risks and benefits. Operating lease payments or 

receipts are recognised as an expense or income in the income state-
ment on a straight-line basis over the lease term.       

 Revenue recognition   
Revenue is recognised to the extent that it is probable that the eco-
nomic benefits will flow to the group and the revenue can be reliably 
measured. Revenue is measured at the fair value of the consideration 
receivable, excluding discounts, rebates, and other sales taxes or duty. 
The group invoices independent service providers for the revenue billed 
by them on behalf of the group, when the deliverables are used.  
     
The following specific recognition criteria must also be met before 
revenue is recognised:    

 Post-paid products     
Post-paid products may include deliverables such as a SIM-card, a 
handset and a fixed period service and are defined as arrangements 
with multiple deliverables. The arrangement consideration is allocated 
to each deliverable based on the fair value of each deliverable on a 
standalone basis as a percentage of the aggregated fair value of the 
individual deliverables.    

Revenue allocated to the identified deliverables in each revenue ar-
rangement and the cost applicable to these identified deliverables are 
recognised based on the same recognition criteria of the individual 
deliverable at the time the product or service is delivered.

 - Revenue from connect packages, which includes activa- 
  tion, SIM-cards and phone, is recognised over the period  
  of the contract.     
 - Revenue from SIM-cards, representing activation fees, is
  recognised upon activation of the SIM-card by the post- 
  paid customer.     
 - Revenue from handsets is recognised when the product is  
  delivered.      
 - Monthly service revenue received from the customer is   
  recognised in the period in which the service is rendered.
 - Airtime revenue is recognised on the usage basis. 

 Pre-paid products    
Pre-paid products may include deliverables such as a SIM-card, a 
handset and airtime and are defined as arrangements with multiple 
deliverables. The arrangement consideration is allocated to each de-
liverable based on the fair value of each deliverable on a standalone 
basis as a percentage of the aggregated fair value of the individual 
deliverables. Revenue allocated to the identified deliverables in each 
revenue arrangement and the cost applicable to these identified deliv-
erables are recognised based on the same recognition criteria of the 
individual deliverable at the time the product or service is delivered.

 - Revenue from SIM-cards, representing activation fees, is
  recognised upon activation of the SIM-card by the pre-paid  
  customer.
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 - Airtime revenue is recognised on the usage basis. The un- 
  used airtime is deferred in full.  
 - Deferred revenue related to unused airtime is recognised 
  when utilised by the customer. 

Upon termination of the customer contract, all deferred revenue for 
unused airtime is recognised in revenue.   

Deferred revenue and costs related to unactivated starter packs, which 
do not contain any expiry date, is recognised in the period when the 
probability of these starter packs being activated becomes remote.

 Data service revenue    
Revenue net of discounts, from data services is recognised when the 
company has performed the related service and depending on the 
nature of the service, is recognised either at the gross amount billed to 
the customer or the amount receivable by the company as commission 
for facilitating the service.     

 Sale of equipment     
Revenue from equipment sales are recognised when the product is 
delivered and acceptance has taken place.   

Revenue from equipment sales to third party service providers is rec-
ognised when delivery is accepted. No rights of return exist on sale to 
third party service providers.   

 Other revenue and income    
 Interconnect and international revenue 
Interconnect and international revenue is recognised on the usage basis. 
       
  Interest     
Revenue is recognised as interest accrues (using the effective interest 
method that is the rate that exactly discounts estimated future cash 
receipts through the expected life of the financial instrument to the net 
carrying amount of the financial asset).   
 
 Royalty income    
Royalty income is recognised on an accrual basis in accordance with 
the substance of the relevant agreement.  

 Rental income     
Rental income arising from operating leases of the base stations and other 
equipment are recognised on a straight line basis over the lease terms. 

 Foreign currency translation   
Transactions in foreign currencies are initially recorded at the func-
tional currency rate ruling at the date of the transaction. Monetary as-
sets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies are re-translated 
at the functional currency rate of exchange ruling at the balance sheet 
date. All differences are taken to profit or loss. 

The functional currency of the group is Namibian Dollar.

 Taxes      
 Current tax      
Current tax assets and liabilities for the current and prior periods are 
measured at the amount expected to be recovered from or paid to 
the taxation authorities. The tax rates and tax laws used to compute 
the amount are those that are enacted or substantively enacted by the 
balance sheet date.     
 
 Deferred tax     
Deferred income tax is provided, using the liability method, on all tem-
porary differences at the balance sheet date between the tax bases of 
assets and liabilities and their carrying amounts for financial reporting 
purposes.    

Deferred income tax liabilities are recognised for all taxable tempo-
rary differences.      

Deferred income tax assets are recognised for all deductible tem-
porary differences, carry-forward of unused tax assets and unused 
tax losses, to the extent that it is probable that taxable profit will be 
available against which the deductible temporary differences, carry-
forward of unused tax assets and unused tax losses can be utilised. 

In respect of deductible temporary differences associated with invest-
ments in subsidiaries, deferred tax assets are only recognised to the 
extent that it is probable that the temporary differences will reverse 
in the foreseeable future and taxable profit will be available against 
which the temporary difference can be utilised. 

The carrying amount of deferred income tax assets is reviewed at 
each balance sheet date and reduced to the extent that it is no longer 
probable that sufficient taxable profit will be available to allow all or 
part of the deferred income tax asset to be utilised.  Unrecognised 
deferred income tax assets are reassessed at each balance sheet date 
and are recognised to the extent that it has become probable that fu-
ture taxable profit will allow the deferred tax asset to be recovered.

Deferred income tax assets and liabilities are measured at the tax rates 
that are expected to apply to the period when the asset is realised or 
the liability is settled, based on tax rates (and tax laws) that have been 
enacted or substantively enacted at the balance sheet date.

Income tax relating to items recognised directly in equity is recognised 
in equity and not in the income statement.  
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 Value added tax     
Revenues, expenses and assets are recognised net of the amount of 
value added tax except:     
 - where the value added tax incurred on a purchase of as- 
  sets or services is not recoverable from the taxation author- 
  ity, in which case the value added tax is recognised as  
  part of the cost of acquisition of the asset or as part of the  
  expense item as applicable; and   
 -  receivables and payables that are stated with the amount  
  of value added tax included.    

The net amount of value added tax recoverable from, or payable to, 
the taxation authority is included as part of receivables or payables 
in the balance sheet.

2. IFRSs AND IFRIC INTERPRETATIONS NOT YET EFFECTIVE 
The group has not applied the following IFRS Standards and IFRIC 
Interpretations that have been issued or amended but are not yet ef-
fective:        
 
 Effective for periods commencing on or after 
 1 January 2008     
   IFRIC 12 Service Concession Arrangements  
   IFRIC 14 IAS 19 The limit on a defined benefit asset,   
   minimum funding requirements and their interaction 
 Effective for periods commencing on or after 1 July   
 2008
   IFRIC 13 Customer Loyalty Programmes   

 Effective for periods commencing on or after 
 1 October 2008     
   IFRIC 16 Hedges of a Net Investment in a Foreign   
   Operation     
 Effective for periods commencing on or after    
 1 January 2009     
   IFRS 2 Amendment to IFRS 2 Share Based Payments -   
   vesting conditions and cancellations   
   IFRS 8 Operating Segments    
   IAS 1 Presentation of Financial Statements revised 
   IAS 23 Borrowing Costs     
   IAS 32 Amendments to IAS 32 Financial Instruments 
   IFRIC 15 Agreements for the Construction of Real Estate
   Annual Improvement Project 2008   
 Effective for periods commencing on or after 
 1 July 2009
   IFRS 3 Business Combinations   
   IAS 27 Consolidated and Separate Financial Statements
   IAS 28 Investment in Associates   
   IAS 31 Interest in Joint ventures  

None of the above standards have been early adopted.  

IAS 23 removes the option to immediately recognise as an expense 
borrowing costs that relate to assets that take a substantial period of 
time to get ready for use or sale. The application of IAS 23 will consti-
tute a change in accounting policy and will apply to qualifying assets 
for which the commencement date for capitalisation is on or after 
1 October 2009.       

The application of the remaining standards in future financial report-
ing periods will not have a significant impact on the reported results, 
financial position and cash flows.
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            GROUP                                            COMPANY       
 
    2008  2007  2008  2007 
   N$’000  N$’000  N$’000  N$’000 
.............................................................................................................................................................................................
3. PROFIT FROM OPERATIONS
 Profit from operations is stated after:          
 Income
 REVENUE 1,257,089   1,112,746   1,257,089   1,112,746

 Contract 347,558   254,588   347,558   254,588
 Connection fees 3,756   4,359   3,756   4,359 
 Call charges 190,511   168,099   190,511   168,099 
 Monthly subscription fees 148,341   78,294   148,341   78,294 
 Other income 4,950   3,836   4,950   3,836
 
 Prepaid 650,786   622,278   650,786   622,278
 Starter packs 8,942   14,707   8,942   14,707 
 Call charges 638,749   604,861   638,749   604,861 
 Other income 3,095   2,710   3,095   2,710  
 Roaming income  84,441   79,968   84,441   79,968 
 Contract 28,559   23,286   28,559   23,286 
 Visitors 55,882   56,682   55,882   56,682 
 
 Handset & accessories sales 25,942   16,597   25,942   16,597 
 Interconnect income 143,381   135,403   143,381   135,403 
 Franchise setup fee & royalties received 426   271   426   271 
 Bulk SMS Revenue 4,555   3,641   4,555   3,641.............................................................................................................................................................................................
  Income from subsidiaries    
 - Management fees - Jürgens Thirty Four (Pty) Ltd -   -    193    176.............................................................................................................................................................................................
  
 Expenses

 Auditors’ remuneration 802   651   757   644 
 - audit fees 636   528   591   522 
 - other services 166   122   166   122.............................................................................................................................................................................................
 Depreciation - property, plant and equipment 108,897   73,446   108,823   73,372.............................................................................................................................................................................................
  Loss on disposal of plant and equipment 1,093   195   1,093   195.............................................................................................................................................................................................
 Amortisation - intangible asset 12,806   16,635   12,806   16,635.............................................................................................................................................................................................
  Expenditure relating to foreign exchange transactions - 
 exchange losses  2,217   1,804   2,217   1,804.............................................................................................................................................................................................
  Loss on disposal of intangible asset -     852   -     852.............................................................................................................................................................................................
  Operating lease expense   
 - premises
  - subsidiary  -     -     191  290 
  - shareholder 7,107   4,360   7,107   4,360 
  - unrelated parties 3,940   7,973   3,940   7,973 
  - other 444   352   444   352

Notes to the Financial Statements at 30 September 2008 (continued)
...........................................................................................



page 36 MTC ANNUAL REPORT 2008

Expenses (continued)           
            GROUP                                                 COMPANY       

  2008  2007  2008  2007 
   N$’000  N$’000  N$’000  N$’000 
.............................................................................................................................................................................................
 Fees for services - consulting fees 1,559   4,722   1,559   4,722.............................................................................................................................................................................................
 Staff costs 119,974   116,207   119,974   116,207 
 - salaries and wages 102,636   100,275   102,636   100,275 
 - pension fund contributions 5,837   5,083   5,837   5,083
 - medical aid contributions 4,341   3,438   4,341   3,438 
 - staff training 3,951   3,943   3,951   3,943 
 - other staff cost 3,209   3,468   3,209   3,468
.............................................................................................................................................................................................
 Number of employees at year end 397   296   397   296.............................................................................................................................................................................................
 
4. FINANCE INCOME    
 Interest received - loans and receivables 33 325   23 349   33 195   23 337.............................................................................................................................................................................................
   33 325   23 349   33 195   23 337.............................................................................................................................................................................................

5. FINANCE COSTS    
 Interest paid - loans and receivables 301    174    261    174.............................................................................................................................................................................................
   301    174    261    174.............................................................................................................................................................................................
 
6. DIRECTORS’ EMOLUMENTS AND KEY MANAGEMENT REMUNERATION
 Executive directors: 
 - emoluments as executives 1 656   1 619   1 656   1 619 .............................................................................................................................................................................................
   1 656   1 619   1 656   1 619

 Non - executive directors:
 - fees as directors 442    294    442    294.............................................................................................................................................................................................
  Total directors’ emoluments 2 098   1 913   2 098   1 913.............................................................................................................................................................................................

 Key management (excluding directors):    
 Short term employee benefits 9 623   7 897   9 623   7 897 
 Long term employee benefits 2 418   2 022   2 418   2 022.............................................................................................................................................................................................
    12 041   9 919   12 041   9 919.............................................................................................................................................................................................
 
The company accumulates 13% of a staff member’s average cost to company package over five years of service and pays 70% and 30% of the 
accumulated value out to that employee after the fifth and seventh year of service respectively, provided the employee reached a performance score 
of 70% or higher in each of the five years. As this expense is dependent upon an uncertain future occurrence, the provision made reflects only an 
estimate.    

The retention bonus cycle repeats itself from year six. .............................................................................................................................................................................................
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           GROUP                                                 COMPANY       

    2008  2007  2008  2007 
   N$’000  N$’000  N$’000  N$’000 
.............................................................................................................................................................................................
 
7. TAXATION    
 Namibian normal tax  
 - Current income tax 154 987   130 683   153 999   130 665 
 - Prior year -    700   -    700 
 - Deferred income tax   
  - relating to temporary differences 25 711   45 650   25 737   45 672
.............................................................................................................................................................................................
   180 698   177 033   179 736   177 037.............................................................................................................................................................................................
 Reconciliation of tax rate %  %  %  % 
 Standard tax rate 35,0  35,0  35,0  35,0 
 Adjusted for:    
 Permanent differences (1,4) (0,7) (1,5) (0,7).............................................................................................................................................................................................
 Effective tax rate 33,6  34,3  33,5  34,3.............................................................................................................................................................................................
       
8. EARNINGS PER SHARE 
 
 RECONCILIATION OF HEADLINE     
 EARNINGS    
 Profit after taxation 357 723   339 627   356 180   339 689 
 Adjusted for:    
 - Loss on disposal of plant and equipment 1 093    195   1 093    195 
 - Loss on disposal of intangible asset -    852   -    852.............................................................................................................................................................................................
  HEADLINE EARNINGS 358 816   340 674   357 273   340 736.............................................................................................................................................................................................
 WEIGHTED AVERAGE SHARES    
 IN ISSUE (‘000) 25 000   25 000   25 000   25 000 
 EARNINGS PER SHARE (Cents)   
 - Basic and diluted 1 430,9  1 358,5  1 424,7  1 358,8 
 - Headline  1 435,3  1 362,7  1 429,1  1 362,9 

Basic and diluted earnings per share    
The calculation is based on a profit of N$ 357 723 000 (2007: profit N$ 339 627 000) and on the weighted average of 25 000 000 
(2007: 25 000 000) ordinary shares in issue during the year.         

Headline earnings per share            
The calculation is based on a profit of N$ 358 816 000 (2007: profit of N$ 340 674 000) and the weighted average of 25 000 000 
(2007: 25 000 000) ordinary shares in issue during the year.
.............................................................................................................................................................................................
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9. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT  
   Land and  Computer,  Vehicles,  Network  Work in  Leasehold  Total
   buildings  and furniture equipment progress improvements 
    prepaid and fittings   
    equipment
   N$’000  N$’000  N$’000  N$’000  N$’000  N$’000  N$’000
.............................................................................................................................................................................................
 2008       
 Group       
 
 Cost        
 Balance at beginning of year 3 329   61 658   32 656   913 089   60 650   14 751  1 086 133
 Additions -   1 044   5,638   144 375   130 013   5 313   286 383
 Disposals -  ( 14 106)  (3,280) ( 10 599)    -  ( 2 290) ( 30 275)
 Transfer -     -   -     48 827  ( 48 827)    -     - 
.............................................................................................................................................................................................
 Balance at end of year 3 329   48 596   35 014  1 095 692   141 836   17 774  1 342 241.............................................................................................................................................................................................
 
 Accumulated depreciation       
 Balance at beginning of year (  359) ( 59 138) ( 15 518) ( 263 806)  -  ( 8 779) ( 347 600)
 Depreciation for the year (  74)  8 048   (3,447) ( 110 345)    -  ( 3 079) ( 108 897)
 Disposals -   14 043   3,002   8 816     -   2 290   28 151.............................................................................................................................................................................................
 Balance at end of year (  433) ( 37 047) ( 15 963) ( 365 335)    -  ( 9 568) ( 428 346).............................................................................................................................................................................................
 Carrying value       
 At end of year 2 896   11 549   19 051   730 357   141 836   8 206   913 895.............................................................................................................................................................................................
  At beginning of year 2 970   2 520   17 138   649 283   60 650   5 972   738 533.............................................................................................................................................................................................
      
 
 2008       
 Company       

 Cost 
 Balance at beginning of year -   61 658   32 656   913 089   60 650   14 751  1 082 804
 Additions -   1 044   5,638   144 375   130 013   5 313   286 383
 Disposals -  ( 14 106)  (3,280) ( 10 599)    -  ( 2 290) ( 30 275)
 Transfer -     -   -     48 827  ( 48 827)    -     - .............................................................................................................................................................................................
 Balance at end of year -   48 596   35 014  1 095 692   141 836   17 774  1 338 912.............................................................................................................................................................................................
 
 Accumulated depreciation       
 Balance at beginning of year -  ( 59 138) ( 15 518) ( 263 806)  -  ( 8 779) ( 347 241)
 Depreciation for the year  8 048   (3,447) ( 110 345)    -  ( 3 079) ( 108 823)
 Disposals  14 043   3,002   8 816     -   2 290   28 151.............................................................................................................................................................................................
 Balance at end of year -  ( 37 047) ( 15 963) ( 365 335)    -  ( 9 568) ( 427 913).............................................................................................................................................................................................
 Carrying value       
 At end of year -   11 549   19 051   730 357   141 836   8 206   910 999.............................................................................................................................................................................................
  At beginning of year -   2 520   17 138   649 283   60 650   5 972   735 563.............................................................................................................................................................................................
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   Land and  Computer,  Vehicles,  Network  Work in  Leasehold  Total
   buildings  and furniture equipment progress improvements 
    prepaid and fittings   
    equipment
   N$’000  N$’000  N$’000  N$’000  N$’000  N$’000  N$’000
.............................................................................................................................................................................................
 2007
 Group       
 
 Cost        
 Balance at beginning of year 3 329   85 832   23,262   597 892   55 629   12 455   778 399
 Additions -   1 199   11,108   268 837   55 773   3 022   339 939
 Disposals -  ( 4 365)  (1,789) ( 25 325)    -  (  726) ( 32 205)
 Transfer -  ( 21 008)  75   71 685  ( 50 752)    -     - .............................................................................................................................................................................................
 Balance at end of year 3 329   61 658   32 656   913 089   60 650   14 751  1 086 133.............................................................................................................................................................................................
 
 Accumulated depreciation       
 Balance at beginning of year (  285) ( 66 879)  (12,212) ( 220 373)    -  ( 6 320) ( 306 069)
 Depreciation for the year (  74) ( 4 039)  (5,073) ( 61 181)    -  ( 3 079) ( 73 446)
 Disposals  4 362   1,767   25 166     -    620   31 915
 Transfer  7 418   -    ( 7 418)    -     -     - .............................................................................................................................................................................................
 Balance at end of year (  359) ( 59 138) ( 15 518) ( 263 806)    -  ( 8 779) ( 347 600).............................................................................................................................................................................................
 Carrying value       
 At end of year 2 970   2 520   17 138   649 283   60 650   5 972   738 533 .............................................................................................................................................................................................
 At beginning of year 3 044   18 953   11 050   377 519   55 629   6 135   472 330.............................................................................................................................................................................................
 
 2007       
 Company       
 
 Cost        
 Balance at beginning of year -   85 832   23,262   597 892   55 629   12 455   775 070
 Additions -   1 199   11,108   268 837   55 773   3 022   339 939
 Disposals -  ( 4 365)  (1,789) ( 25 325)    -  (  726) ( 32 205)
 Transfer -  ( 21 008)  75   71 685  ( 50 752)    -     - .............................................................................................................................................................................................
 Balance at end of year -   61 658   32 656   913 089   60 650   14 751  1 082 804.............................................................................................................................................................................................
 Accumulated depreciation       
 Balance at beginning of year -  ( 66 879)  (12 212) ( 220 373)    -  ( 6 320) ( 305 784)
 Depreciation for the year -  ( 4 039)  (5 073) ( 61 181)    -  ( 3 079) ( 73 372)
 Disposals -   4 362   1,767   25 166     -    620   31 915
 Transfer -   7 418   -    ( 7 418)    -     -     - .............................................................................................................................................................................................
 Balance at end of year -  ( 59 138) ( 15 518) ( 263 806)    -  ( 8 779) ( 347 241).............................................................................................................................................................................................
 Carrying value
 At end of year -   2 520   17 138   649 283   60 650   5 972   735 563 .............................................................................................................................................................................................
 At beginning of year -   18 953   11 050   377 519   55 629   6 135   469 286.............................................................................................................................................................................................
 
 Land and buildings comprise the following:    
   
 Sectional titles unit 6 (186 m2) and unit 9 (210 m2) of United Buildings, erf 7640, Windhoek.
.............................................................................................................................................................................................
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10. CHANGE IN ACCOUNTING ESTIMATE      
 In the current year the residual values and estimated useful lives of all categories of property, plant and equipment were reassessed in 
 accordance with IAS 16. This resulted in a change in the estimated remaining useful life of network equipment which have increased cur- 
 rent year profits by N$ 20,548 million (2007: N$ 24,312 million). This increase in profit will result in increased depreciation charges in  
 future periods of the same amount.
.............................................................................................................................................................................................

11. INTANGIBLE ASSETS  
  Goodwill  Software Total
   licenses 
  N$’000  N$’000  N$’000 
.............................................................................................................................................................................................
 2008   
 Group   

 Cost   
 Balance at beginning of year 229   120 792   121 021 
 Additions -   5 395   5 395 
 Disposals  ( 9 255) ( 9 255).............................................................................................................................................................................................
 Balance at end of year 229   116 932   117 161.............................................................................................................................................................................................

 Accumulated amortisation and impairment  
 Balance at beginning of year (  229) ( 57 392) ( 57 621)
 Amortisation for the year -  ( 12 806) ( 12 806)
 Disposals  9 255   9 255 .............................................................................................................................................................................................
 Balance at end of year (  229) ( 60 943) ( 61 172).............................................................................................................................................................................................
 Carrying value
 At end of year -   55 989   55 989 .............................................................................................................................................................................................
 At beginning of year -   63 400   63 400.............................................................................................................................................................................................
  
 
 2008   
 Company   

 Cost   
 Balance at beginning of year  120 792   120 792 
 Additions  5 395   5 395 
 Disposals  ( 9 255) ( 9 255).............................................................................................................................................................................................
 Balance at end of year  116 932   116 932.............................................................................................................................................................................................

 Accumulated amortisation 
 Balance at beginning of year  ( 57 392) ( 57 392)
 Amortisation for the year  ( 12 806) ( 12 806)
 Disposals  9 255   9 255............................................................................................................................................................................................. 
 Balance at end of year  ( 60 943) ( 60 943).............................................................................................................................................................................................
 Carrying value   
 At end of year  55 989   55 989............................................................................................................................................................................................. 
 At beginning of year  63 400   63 400............................................................................................................................................................................................. 
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11. INTANGIBLE ASSETS (continued)  
  Goodwill  Software Total
   licenses 
  N$’000  N$’000  N$’000
............................................................................................................................................................................................. 
 2007   
 Group

 Cost   
 Balance at beginning of year 229   115 074   115 303 
 Additions -   6 584   6 584 
 Disposals -  (  866) (  866)............................................................................................................................................................................................. 
 Balance at end of year 229   120 792   121 021............................................................................................................................................................................................. 

 Accumulated amortisation and impairment   
 Balance at beginning of year (  229) ( 40 771) ( 41 000)
 Amortisation for the year -  ( 16 635) ( 16 635)
 Disposals  14    14 ............................................................................................................................................................................................. 
 Balance at end of year (  229) ( 57 392) ( 57 621)............................................................................................................................................................................................. 
 Carrying value   
 At end of year -   63 400   63 400............................................................................................................................................................................................. 
  At beginning of year -   74 303   74 303............................................................................................................................................................................................. 

 
 2007
 Company   

 Cost   
 Balance at beginning of year  115 074   115 074 
 Additions  6 584   6 584 
 Disposals  (  866) (  866)............................................................................................................................................................................................. 
 Balance at end of year  120 792   120 792............................................................................................................................................................................................. 

 Accumulated amortisation   
 Balance at beginning of year  ( 40 771) ( 40 771)
 Amortisation for the year  ( 16 635) ( 16 635)
 Disposals  14    14 ............................................................................................................................................................................................. 
 Balance at end of year  ( 57 392) ( 57 392)............................................................................................................................................................................................. 
 Carrying value   
 At end of year  63 400   63 400 ............................................................................................................................................................................................. 
 At beginning of year  74 303   74 303............................................................................................................................................................................................. 
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         OWNERSHIP                                     COMPANY       

  2008  2007  2008  2007 
   % %  N$’000  N$’000 
.............................................................................................................................................................................................
12. INVESTMENT IN SUBSIDIARIES    
 Jurgens Thirty Four (Proprietary) Limited    
 Shares at cost 100    100    458    458 
 Indebtedness   1 681   1 633 

 Windhoek General Administrators (Proprietary) Limited    
 Shares at cost 100    100     -     - 
 Indebtedness   14    11 .............................................................................................................................................................................................
     2 153   2 102..........................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................

  Attributable to Mobile Telecommunications Limited    
 Aggregate profit / (losses) after tax   1 593  (  13).............................................................................................................................................................................................

        
        GROUP                                               COMPANY       

  2008  2007  2008  2007 
   N$’000 N$’000  N$’000  N$’000 
.............................................................................................................................................................................................

13. SHAREHOLDER LOANS    
 Namibia Post and Telecommunications Holdings Limited (  112) (  814) (  112) (  814)
 Africatel Holdings B.V.  ( 1 717)  3 135  ( 1 717)  3 135 .............................................................................................................................................................................................
   ( 1 829)  2 321  ( 1 829)  2 321.............................................................................................................................................................................................
 
 The loans are unsecured, interest free and payable on presentation.
.............................................................................................................................................................................................
 
14. INVENTORIES    
 Network consumables 17 850   64 788   17 850   64 788 
 Subscriber identity modules 5 606   7 996   5 606   7 996 
 Handset and accessories 29 312   14 048   29 312   14 048  
 Consumables 151    153    151    153 .............................................................................................................................................................................................
   52 919   86 985   52 919   86 985 .............................................................................................................................................................................................
 Inventory carried at net realisable value 1 340   15 626   1 340   15 626.............................................................................................................................................................................................

15. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES    
 Prepayments and deposits 4 412   11 775   4 412   11 567 
 Customers to the mobile network after provisions 149 653   131 066   149 653   131 066
 Interconnect debtors 8 722   14 092   8 722   14 092 
 Other receivables 4 375   29 378   4 084   29 378.............................................................................................................................................................................................
    167 162   186 311   166 871   186 103.............................................................................................................................................................................................
 
 Provisions for doubtful debts included above ( 6 200) ( 4 177) ( 6 200) ( 4 177)
 Trade receivables are generally on 30 - 60 days terms.
.............................................................................................................................................................................................
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        GROUP                                               COMPANY       

  2008  2007  2008  2007 
   N$’000 N$’000  N$’000  N$’000 
.............................................................................................................................................................................................
16. CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS    
 Cash at bank and in hand 156 126   67 227   152 879   67 074 
 Short-term bank deposits 262 271   150 051   262 039   150 051 .............................................................................................................................................................................................
 Fair value of cash and cash equivalents 418 397   217 278   414 918   217 125.............................................................................................................................................................................................

 Cash at bank and in hand earns interest at floating rates based on daily bank deposit rates.  Cash and cash equivalents comprises cash   
 held by the group and short-term bank deposits with an original maturity of three months or less.  The carrying amount of these assets   
 approximate their fair value. 
.............................................................................................................................................................................................

17. SHARE CAPITAL   
 Authorised and issued    
 25 000 000 ordinary shares of N$1 each 25 000   25 000   25 000   25 000 .............................................................................................................................................................................................
   25 000   25 000   25 000   25 000.............................................................................................................................................................................................

18. DEFERRED TAXATION    
 The movement on the deferred taxation account is as follows:    
 
 Balance at beginning of year 160 050   114 400   159 824   114 152 
 Income statement charge 25 711   45 650   25 737   45 672.............................................................................................................................................................................................
  At end of year 185 761   160 050   185 561   159 824.............................................................................................................................................................................................
 Comprising:    
 Deferred income tax assets
 - Provision -  ( 1 516)    -  ( 1 516)
 - Income received in advance ( 25 169) ( 18 472) ( 25 169) ( 18 472)
 - Doubtful debt provision -  ( 1 096)    -  ( 1 096)
 - Unrealised forex gain -  (  689)    -  (  689)
 - Losses available for offset against future taxable income -  (  18)    -     - .............................................................................................................................................................................................
   ( 25 169) ( 21 791) ( 25 169) ( 21 773).............................................................................................................................................................................................
 Deferred income tax liabilities    
 - Capital allowances 199 979   157 665   199 779   157 421 
 - Inventories 7 684   22 739   7 684   22 739 
 - Prepayments 883   1 437    883   1 437 
 - Unrealised forex loss 2 384     -   2 384     -.............................................................................................................................................................................................
    210 930   181 841   210 730   181 597.............................................................................................................................................................................................
  Net deferred tax liability 185 761   160 050   185 561   159 824 .............................................................................................................................................................................................

19. TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES    
 Trade payables 87 682   57 321   86 556   57 321 
 Accruals 121 243   59 427   121 243   58 913.............................................................................................................................................................................................
    208 925   116 748   207 799   116 234.............................................................................................................................................................................................
  
 Payables are non-interest bearing and are normally settled on 30-day terms. 
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        GROUP                                               COMPANY       

  2008  2007  2008  2007 
   N$’000 N$’000  N$’000  N$’000 
.............................................................................................................................................................................................
20. UNUSED PRE - PAID VOUCHERS    
 At the beginning of the year 52 294   49 736   52 294   49 736 
 Airtime sold during the year  751 136   717 060   751 136   717 060 
 Airtime utilised during the year ( 738 214) ( 714 502) ( 738 214) ( 714 502).............................................................................................................................................................................................
 At the end of the year 65 216   52 294   65 216   52 294 .............................................................................................................................................................................................

 Current  65 216   52 294   65 216   52 294 .............................................................................................................................................................................................
 Total  65 216   52 294   65 216   52 294.............................................................................................................................................................................................

21. NOTES TO CASH FLOW STATEMENTS    
 21.1 Cash generated by operations    
  Operating profit before taxation  538,421   516,660   535,916   516,726
  Adjustments for :    
  Amortisation  12,806   16,635   12,806   16,635
  Depreciation  108,897   73,446   108,823   73,372 
  Loss on disposal of plant     
  and equipment  1,093   195   1,093   195 
  Loss on disposal of intangible asset  -     852   -     852 
  Interest paid  301   174   261   174 
  Interest receive  (33,325)  (23,349)  (33,195)   (23,337)
  Unrealised forex loss  2,217   1,804   2,217   1,804 .............................................................................................................................................................................................
  Operating profit before    
  working capital changes  630,410   586,417   627,921   586,421 .............................................................................................................................................................................................
  Working capital changes  158,314   (74,475)  157,785   (74,448).............................................................................................................................................................................................
  Decrease / (increase) in inventories  34,066   (19,773)  34,066   (19,773)
  Decrease / (increase) in trade and     
  other receivables  19,149   (71,920)  19,232   (71,920)
  Increase in unused    
  pre-paid vouchers  12,922   2,558   12,922   2,558 
  Increase in trade and other payables  92,177   14,660   91,565   14,687 .............................................................................................................................................................................................
  Cash generated by operations  788,724   511,942   785,706   511,973.............................................................................................................................................................................................
 
 21.2 Taxation paid    
  Receivable at the beginning of the year (32,938)  (14,334)  (32,720)   (14,118)
  Taxation charged to the income statement 154,987   131,383   153,999   131,365 
  (Payable) / receivable at the end of the year (11,048)  32,938   (10,111)   32,720.............................................................................................................................................................................................
   Amounts paid  111,001   149,987   111,168   149,967 ............................................................................................................................................................................................. 
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        GROUP                                               COMPANY       

  2008  2007  2008  2007 
   N$’000 N$’000  N$’000  N$’000 
.............................................................................................................................................................................................
22. COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENCIES    
 22.1 Capital commitments    
  Commitments in respect of capital expenditure:    

  Approved and contracted for    
  Network expansions  52 029   61 897   52 029   61 897
  Other - property, plant and equipment  -   1 915     -   1 915 .............................................................................................................................................................................................
    52 029   63 812   52 029   63 812.............................................................................................................................................................................................

  Approved and not contracted for    
  Network expansions  176 403   151 321   176 403   151 321
  Other - property, plant and equipment  16 175   10 871   16 175   10 871 .............................................................................................................................................................................................
    192 578   162 192   192 578   162 192 .............................................................................................................................................................................................
  
  This expenditure will be financed from cash generated from normal business operations. 

 22.2 Legal claims      
  Instituted by the Group - contingent asset    

  The group has commenced action against a supplier in respect of a breach of contract. The estimated receipt, net of expected legal    
  fees, is N$ 2 200 000 should the action be successful. A trial date has not been set, therefore it is not practicable to state the timing  
   of the receipt, if any. The supplier has entered a counter claim, refer below.    

  The group has further instituted actions against debtors in respect of monies owed to the group. The estimated receipt, net of    
  expected legal fees, is N$ 1 104 203 should the action be successful. A trial date has not been  set, therefore it is not practicable to    
  state the timing of the receipt, if any.    

  The group has been advised by its legal council that it is only possible, but not probable, that the action will succeed and accord-   
  ingly an asset for the amount receivable has not been raised in these financial statements.   

  Instituted against the Group - contingent liability     
  
  A supplier has entered a counter claim against the group in respect of the breach of contract proceedings mentioned above. They    
  are contesting the claim against them to the amount of N$ 2 182 728. A trial date has not been set, therefore it is not practicable to  
  state the timing of the payment, if any.      

  The directors of the group are confident that the claim can be successfully resisted by the group.  

  The group has been advised by its legal council that it is only possible, but not probable, that the action will succeed and accord-   
  ingly no provision for any liability has been made in these financial statements. 
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Notes to the Financial Statements at 30 September 2008 (continued)
...........................................................................................

22. COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENCIES (continued)
 22.3 Operating lease commitments - lessee      
  Future minimum rentals payable under non-cancellable 
  operating leases are as follows as of 30 September:  Premises   
    Radio sites Offices/Shops Other Total                              .....................................................................................................
  2008     
  Within one year  5 861   11 693    454   18 008 
  After one year but not more than five years 32 622   43 825    490   76 937 
  More than five years  18 203   59 120     -   77 323.............................................................................................................................................................................................
     56 686   114 638    944   172 268............................................................................................................................................................................................. 
 
     Premises   
    Radio sites Offices/Shops Other Total                             .....................................................................................................
  2007     
  Within one year  3 647   10 893    408   14 948 
  After one year but not more than five years 12 913   42 246     -   55 159 
  More than five years  12 220   54 466     -   66 686.............................................................................................................................................................................................
    28 780   107 605    408   136 793.............................................................................................................................................................................................

23. RETIREMENT BENEFIT INFORMATION   
 The company operates a defined contribution scheme, the MTC Pension Fund (registration number 25/7/7/390), providing benefits based  
 on the contributions of an employee and is administrered by Alexander Forbes. This fund is registered under and governed by the Pension  
 Funds Act, 1956 as amended. The fund will be valued every three years. The members of the fund can elect to contribute 7% or the maxi-
 mum  of 14 %, which will be matched by the employer by the % elected of the members’ pensionable salaries. All contributions of the com-  
 pany are charged to the income statement as incurred. Employer contributions for the year are disclosed in note 3. The fair value of the 
 fund’s  investments as at the funds’ year end at 29 February 2008 were N$ 17 665 222 ( 2007: N$ 22 765 265).  

 In addition to the pension fund, the company also operates a group life scheme covering 100% of the total number of employees in cases  
 of death and/or permanent disability.     

 The group does not currently bear and is in no way contractually liable for the cost of funding post retirement medical aid benefits. The con- 
 tribution to the Medical Aid Fund should an employee choose to continue membership of the scheme on retirement, is payable by the retiree. 

 A statutory actuarial valuation was performed on 28 February 2006 in which the valuator reported that the fund was in a sound financial    
 position. The next statutory actuarial valuation will be performed on 28 February 2009. 
.............................................................................................................................................................................................

24. BANK OVERDRAFT     
 The company has unsecured overdraft facilities totalling N$ 1 million with financial institutions, with a settlement facility in respect of guar-  
 antees of N$ 22,47 million. (2007: N$ 1.91 million)
.............................................................................................................................................................................................

25. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES    
 The Group’s principal financial liabilities, other than derivatives, comprise shareholder’s loans and trade payables. The Group has no inter- 
 est bearing borrowings. The main purpose of these financial liabilities is to raise finance for the Group’s operations. The Group has various  
 financial assets such as trade receivables and cash and short-term deposits, which arise directly from its operations.  It is and has been  
 throughout 2008 the Group’s policy that no trading in derivatives shall be undertaken. The main risks arising from the Group’s financial  
 instruments are foreign currency risk, credit risk and liquidity risk.    

 There has been no significant change during the financial year, or since the end of the financial year, to the types of financial risks faced by  
 the Group, the approach to measurement of these financial risks or the objectives, policies and processes for managing these financial risks.   

 The Board of Directors reviews and agrees policies for managing each of these risks which are summarised below.
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25. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (continued) 
 25.1 Foreign currency risk management     
  Foreign currency risk refers to the risk that the fair value of future cash flows of a financial instrument will fluctuate because of changes  
  in foreign exchange rates.     

  The Group incurs currency risk as a result of the following transactions which are denominated in a currency other than Namibia Dol- 
  lar  or South African Rand: purchases of equipment, consulting fees and borrowings.  The currencies which primarily give rise to cur-   
  rency  risk are the US Dollar (USD); Euro (EU) and Swiss Frans (CSF). As at 30 September 2008 no forward contracts were entered    
  into  to hedge the entity against the foreign currency risk identified.    

  The group and the company normally pay all foreign amounts due close to order / delivery date, and therefore do not buy any for-   
  ward  cover regarding these transactions.    

  The following table details the Group’s sensitivity to the below-mentioned percentage strengthening and weakening in the functional  
   currency against the relevent foreign currencies. This percentage is the sensitivity rate used when reporting foreign currency risk inter-  
   nally to key management personnel and represents management’s assessment of the reasonably possible change in foreign exchange
  rates.     

  The sensitivity analysis includes only outstanding foreign-denominated monetary items and adjusts their translations at the period end  
  for the specified percentage change in foreign currency rates.    

  For the same percentage weakening of the functional currency against the relevent currency, there would be an equal and opposite    
  impact on the profit before taxation.

  There were no changes in the methods and assumptions used in preparing the foreign currency sensitivity analysis. 
        
         
         GROUP                                   COMPANY       
    
 Effect on profit before tax of amounts  2008                    2007              2008               2007
 included in trade payables at year end:  N$’000 N$’000  N$’000  N$’000  
                               ..........................................................................................................
  USD    
  Effect on profit before tax    
  Increase of 5% in USD exchange rate (3,681)  (963)  (3,681)  (963)
  Decrease of 5% in USD exchange rate 3,681   963   3,681   963 

  Euro    
  Effect on profit before tax    
  Increase of 5% in Euro exchange rate (2,663)  (8)  (2,663)  (8)
  Decrease of 5% in Euro exchange rate 2,663   8   2,663   8 

  Swiss Francs    
  Effect on profit before tax    
  Increase of 5% in Swiss Francs exchange rate  (119)  (76)  (119)  (76)
  Decrease of 5% in Swiss Francs exchange rate 119   76   119   76
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 25.1 Foreign currency risk management                                         
              GROUP                                   COMPANY       
    
 Effect on profit before tax of amounts     2008                    2007              2008               2007
 included in trade receivables at year end:    N$’000  N$’000  N$’000  N$’000  
                               ..........................................................................................................
 USD     
 Effect on profit before tax     
 Increase of 5% in USD exchange rate  -     534   -    534 
 Decrease of 5% in USD exchange rate  -     (534)  -     (534)

 Euro     
 Effect on profit before tax     
 Increase of 5% in Euro exchange rate  -     157   -     157 
 Decrease of 5% in Euro exchange rate  -     (157)  -     (157)

 

 At year end the following foreign currency denominated  Conversion rate at   Conversion rate at
 amounts were included in trade payables, for which no  2008  30 September 2007 30 September    
 forward cover was taken:  N$’000 2008 N$’000 2007
.............................................................................................................................................................................................
 United States Dollars  73 610   8.32   19 269  6.88
 Euro  53 251   11.72    170  9.80
 Swiss Francs  2 380   7.43   1 514  5.90
           
 At year end the following foreign currency denominated 
 amounts were included in roaming debtors, for which no 
 forward cover was taken:     
 
 United States Dollars   -   -     10 689  6.88 

 
 25.2 Credit risk management    
  Credit risk is related to the risk of a third party failing with its contractual obligations resulting in a financial loss to the Group. 

  The Group trades only with recognised, creditworthy third parties. It is the Group’s policy that all customers who wish to trade on  
   credit terms are subject to credit verification procedures. In addition, receivable balances are monitored on an ongoing basis with the   
  result that the Group’s exposure to bad debts is not significant. In addition to this reputable financial institutions are used for investing  
  and cash handling purposes. The maximum credit exposure is the carrying amount as disclosed in Note 15. There are no significant   
  concentrations of credit risk within the group.    

  With respect to credit risk arising from the other financial assets of the company, which comprise cash and cash equivalents and  
  short  term deposits with well known reputable Namibian banks, the company’s exposure to credit risk arises from default of the 
  counterparty, with a maximum exposure equal to the carrying amount of these balances.   

  There has been no significant change during the financial year, or since the end of the financial year, to the Group’s exposure to  
  credit  risk, the approach to the measurement or the objectives, policies and processes for managing this risk.    
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 25.2 Credit risk management (continued)
                GROUP                                   COMPANY       
    
           2008                             2007              2008               2007
        N$’000            N$’000          N$’000            N$’000
                     ..........................................................................................................
 Loans and receivables - Namibia -  -  -  - 
 Loans and receivables - non-Namibian -   3 135   -   3 135 
 Trade and other receivables - Namibia 167 162   175 622   166 871   175 414 
 Trade and other receivables - non-Namibian -   10 689   -   10 689                      ..........................................................................................................
  167 162   189 446   166 871   189 238                      ..........................................................................................................                     ..........................................................................................................
 
 No terms of financial assets were renegotiated.
 
 With respect to trade and other receivables that are neither past due nor impaired, there are no indications as of the reporting date   
 that the debtors will not meet their payment obligations.

         
         
              GROUP                                   COMPANY       
    
  2008                    2007              2008               2007
  N$’000 N$’000          N$’000            N$’000
                     ..........................................................................................................
 
 Neither past due nor impaired 142 918   174 354   142 842   174 324 
 Past due but not impaired:    
 between 30 and 60 days 18 236   8 508   18 161   8 449 
 between 60 and 90 days 1 395    862   1 325    803 
 more than 90 days 4 613   2 587   4 543   2 527                      ..........................................................................................................
 Net carrying amount  167 162   186 311   166 871   186 103                      ..........................................................................................................                       ..........................................................................................................
 

 25.3 Liquidity risk management    
  These risks may occur if the sources of funding, including operating cash flows, credit lines and cash flows obtained from financing  
   operations, do not match with the group’s financing needs, such as operating and financing outflows, investments, shareholder   
  remuneration and debt repayments.    

  The Group has minimised its risk of illiquidity by ensuring that it has adequate banking facilities and reserve borrowing capacity. 

  The Group monitors its risk to a shortage of funds using monthly management accounts and general cashflow projections. 

  The table below summarises the maturity profile of the Group’s financial liabilities at 30 September based on contractual undiscounted  
  payments.     
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 25.3 Liquidity risk management (continued)
   On demand Less than 3 3 to 12 1 to 5 > 5
  Group  months months years years
  2008 N$’000  N$’000  N$’000  N$’000  N$’000
         .....................................................................................................................
  
  Shareholder loans 1,829   -     -     -     -   
  Trade and other payables -     208,925   -     -     -            .....................................................................................................................
   1,829   208,925   -     -     -            .....................................................................................................................         .....................................................................................................................

   On demand Less than 3 3 to 12 1 to 5 > 5
    months months years years
  2007 N$’000  N$’000  N$’000  N$’000  N$’000   
         .....................................................................................................................

  Shareholder loans 814   -     -     -     -   
  Trade and other payables -     116,748   -     -     -             .....................................................................................................................
   814   116,748   -     -     -            .....................................................................................................................         .....................................................................................................................

   On demand Less than 3 3 to 12 1 to 5 > 5
  Company  months months years years
  2008 N$’000  N$’000  N$’000  N$’000  N$’000   
         .....................................................................................................................
  
  Shareholder loans 1,829   -     -     -     -   
  Trade and other payables -     207,799   -     -     -             .....................................................................................................................
   1,829   207,799   -     -     -             .....................................................................................................................         .....................................................................................................................

   On demand Less than 3 3 to 12 1 to 5 > 5
    months months years years
  2007 N$’000  N$’000  N$’000  N$’000  N$’000   
         .....................................................................................................................
  
  Shareholder loans 814   -     -     -     -   
  Trade and other payables -     116,234   -     -     -             .....................................................................................................................
   814   116,234   -     -     -             .....................................................................................................................         .....................................................................................................................

 
 25.4 Capital management     
  The primary objective of the company’s capital management is to ensure that it maintains a strong credit rating in order to support its  
  business and maximise shareholder value.    

  The capital structure of the Group consists of debt, cash and cash equivalents and equity.   

  The company manages its capital structure and makes adjustments to it, in light of changes in economic conditions. To maintain or   
  adjust the capital structure, the company may issue new shares or obtain additional funding from its shareholders.  

  No changes were made in the objectives, policies and processes during the years ended 30 September 2008 and 30 September
  2007.     

  The Group is not subject to externally imposed capital requirements. 
.............................................................................................................................................................................................
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26 FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS     
 26.1 Categories of financial instruments    

      At fair value   Financial Equity and 
      through profit or Finance lease liabilities non-financial  
   Notes  Total Loans and loss: Held for receivables and at amortised assets 
     receivables trading payables cost and liabilities

 2008   N$’000  N$’000  N$’000  N$’000  N$’000  N$’000                                               ....................................................................................................................................  Group       
 Assets        
 Non-current assets       
 Property, plant and       
 equipment 9  913,895   -     -     -     -     913,895
 Intangible assets 11  55,989   -     -     -     -     55,989
 Current assets 
 Inventories 14   52,919   -     -     -     -     52,919 
 Trade and other receivables 15   167,162   167,162   -     -     -     -   
 Taxation 7   -     -     -     -     -     -   
 Cash and cash equivalents 16   418,397   418,397   -     -     -     -                                                  ....................................................................................................................................
 Total assets   1,608,362   585,559   -     -     -     1,022,803                                                 ....................................................................................................................................          ....................................................................................................................................
 
 Equity        
 Ordinary share capital 17   25,000   -     -     -     -     25,000
 Retained income   1,110,583   -     -     -     -     1,110,583                                                 ....................................................................................................................................
 Equity attributable to equity        
 holders of the parent   1,135,583   -     -     -     -     1,135,583                                                 ....................................................................................................................................
 Total equity   1,135,583   -     -     -     -     1,135,583

 Non-current liabilities        
 Deferred taxation 18   185,761   -     -     -     -     185,761
 Current liabilities        
 Trade and other payables 19   208,925   -     -     -     208,925   -   
 Unused pre-paid vouchers 20   65,216   -     -     -     -     65,216
 Shareholder loans 13   1,829   -     -     -     1,829   -   
 Taxation payable   11,048   -     -     -     -     11,048                                                ....................................................................................................................................
 Total liabilities   472,779   -     -     -     210,754   262,025                                                 ....................................................................................................................................           ...................................................................................................................................
 Total equity and liabilities   1,608,362   -     -     -     210,754   1,397,608                                                 ....................................................................................................................................          ....................................................................................................................................
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 26.1 Categories of financial instruments (continued)
      At fair value   Financial Equity and 
      through profit or Finance lease liabilities non-financial  
   Notes  Total Loans and loss: Held for receivables and at amortised assets 
     receivables trading payables cost and liabilities

 2008   N$’000  N$’000  N$’000  N$’000  N$’000  N$’000                                               ....................................................................................................................................  Company       
 Assets        
 Non-current assets       
 Property, plant and       
 equipment 9  910,999   -     -     -     -     910,999
 Intangible assets 11   55,989   -     -     -     -     55,989
 Investment in subsidiaries 12   2,153   -     -     -     -     2,153 
 Current assets 
 Inventories 14   52,919   -     -     -     -     52,919 
 Trade and other receivables 15   166,871   166,871   -     -     -     -   
 Taxation 7   -     -     -     -     -     -   
 Cash and cash equivalents 16   414,918   414,918   -     -     -     -                                                  ....................................................................................................................................
 Total assets   1,603,849   581,788   -     -     -     1,022,060                                               ....................................................................................................................................          .................................................................................................................................... 

 Equity        
 Ordinary share capital 17   25,000   -     -     -     -     25,000
 Retained income   1,108,333   -     -     -     -     1,108,333                                                 ....................................................................................................................................
 Equity attributable to equity        
 holders of the parent   1,133,333   -     -     -     -     1,133,333                                                 ....................................................................................................................................
 Total equity  1,133,333   -     -     -     -     1,133,333

 Non-current liabilities        
 Deferred taxation 18   185,561   -     -     -     -     185,561
 Current liabilities        
 Trade and other payables 19   207,799   -     -     -     207,799   - 
 Unused pre-paid vouchers 20   65,216   -     -     -     -     65,216
 Shareholder loans 13   1,829   -     -     -     1,829   -   
 Taxation payable   10,111   -     -     -     -     10,111                                                ....................................................................................................................................
 Total liabilities   470,516   -     -     -     209,628   260,888                                                 ....................................................................................................................................          ....................................................................................................................................
 Total equity and liabilities   1,603,849   -     -     -     209,628   1,394,221                                                 ....................................................................................................................................          ....................................................................................................................................
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 26.1 Categories of financial instruments (continued)
      At fair value   Financial Equity and 
      through profit or Finance lease liabilities non-financial  
   Notes  Total Loans and loss: Held for receivables and at amortised assets 
     receivables trading payables cost and liabilities

 2007   N$’000  N$’000  N$’000  N$’000  N$’000  N$’000                                               ....................................................................................................................................
  Group       
 Assets        
 Non-current assets       
 Property, plant and       
 equipment 9  738,533   -     -     -     -     738,533
 Intangible assets 11   63,400   -     -     -     -     63,400
 Current assets 
 Shareholder loans 13   3,135   3,135   -     -     -     - 
 Inventories 14   86,985   -     -     -     -     86,985 
 Trade and other receivables 15   186,311   186,311   -     -     -     -   
 Taxation 7   32,938   -     -     -     -     32,938
 Cash and cash equivalents 16   217,278   217,278   -     -     -     -                                                  ....................................................................................................................................
 Total assets   1,328,580   406,724   -     -     -     921,856                                               ....................................................................................................................................          ....................................................................................................................................
 
 Equity        
 Ordinary share capital 17   25,000   -     -     -     -     25,000
 Retained income    973,674   -     -     -     -     973,674                                                 ....................................................................................................................................
 Equity attributable to equity        
 holders of the parent   998,674   -     -     -     -     998,674                                                 ....................................................................................................................................
 Total equity   998,674   -     -     -     -     998,674
 
 Non-current liabilities        
 Deferred taxation 18   160,050   -     -     -     -     160,050
 Current liabilities        
 Trade and other payables 19   116,748   -     -     -     116,748   -
 Unused pre-paid vouchers 20    52,294   -     -     -     -     52,294
 Shareholder loans 13    814   -     -     -     814   -  
 Taxation payable    -     -     -     -     -     -                                               ....................................................................................................................................
 Total liabilities   329,906   -     -     -     117,562   212,344                                                ....................................................................................................................................          ....................................................................................................................................
 Total equity and liabilities    1,328,580   -     -     -     117,562   1,211,018                                                 ....................................................................................................................................          ....................................................................................................................................
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 26.1 Categories of financial instruments (continued)
      At fair value   Financial Equity and 
      through profit or Finance lease liabilities non-financial  
   Notes  Total Loans and loss: Held for receivables and at amortised assets 
     receivables trading payables cost and liabilities

 2007   N$’000  N$’000  N$’000  N$’000  N$’000  N$’000                                               ....................................................................................................................................  Company       
 Assets        
 Non-current assets       
 Property, plant and       

 equipment 9  735,563   -     -     -     -     735,563
 Intangible assets 11   63,400   -     -     -     -     63,400
 Investment in subsidiaries 12   2,102   -     -     -     -     2,102 
 Current assets 
 Shareholder loans 13   3,135   3,135   -     -     -     - 
 Inventories 14   86,985   -     -     -     -     86,985 
 Trade and other receivables 15   186,103   186,103   -     -     -     -   
 Taxation 7   32,720   -     -     -     -     32,720
 Cash and cash equivalents 16   217,125   217,125   -     -     -     -                                                  ....................................................................................................................................
 Total assets    1,327,133   406,363   -     -     -     920,770                                               ....................................................................................................................................          .................................................................................................................................... 
 Equity        
 Ordinary share capital 17   25,000   -     -     -     -     25,000
 Retained income     972,967   -     -     -     -     972,967                                                 ....................................................................................................................................
 Equity attributable to equity        
 holders of the parent   997,967   -     -     -     -     997,967                                                 ....................................................................................................................................

 Total equity   997,967       997,967
 
 Non-current liabilities        
 Deferred taxation 18   159,824   -     -     -     -     159,824
 Current liabilities        
 Trade and other payables 19   116,234   -     -     -     116,234   -
 Unused pre-paid vouchers 20    52,294   -     -     -     -     52,294
 Shareholder loans 13    814   -     -     -     814   -  
 Taxation payable    -     -     -     -     -     -                                               ....................................................................................................................................
 Total liabilities   329,166   -     -     -     117,048   212,118                                                ....................................................................................................................................          ....................................................................................................................................
 Total equity and liabilities   1,327,133   -     -     -     117,048   1,210,085                                                 ....................................................................................................................................          ....................................................................................................................................
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26 FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)
 
 26.2 Fair values 

 Set out below is a comparison by category of carrying amounts and fair values of all of the Group’s financial instruments that are carried   
 in the financial statements:     

    
    Carrying amount  Fair value 
 
   2008 2007 2008 2007
 Group N$’000  N$’000  N$’000  N$’000                                                                 ....................................................................................................................
 Financial assets    
 Cash and deposits 418,397   217,278   418,397   217,278 
 Shareholder loans -     3,135   -     3,135 
 Trade & other receivables 167,162   186,311   167,162   186,311             ....................................................................................................................
   585,559   406,724   585,559   406,724            ....................................................................................................................          ....................................................................................................................
 
 Financial liabilities    
 Shareholder loans 1,829   814   1,829   814 
 Trade and other payables 208,925   116,748   208,925   116,748               ....................................................................................................................
   210,754   117,562   210,754   117,562              ....................................................................................................................          ....................................................................................................................

    Carrying amount  Fair value 
 
   2008 2007 2008 2007
 Company N$’000  N$’000  N$’000  N$’000             ....................................................................................................................
 Financial assets    
 Cash and deposits 414,918   217,125   414,918   217,125 
 Shareholder loans -     3,135   -     3,135 
 Trade & other receivables 166,871   186,103   166,871   186,103             ....................................................................................................................
   581,789   406,363   581,789   406,363              ....................................................................................................................          ....................................................................................................................
 Financial liabilities    
 Shareholder loans 1,829   814   1,829   814 
 Trade and other payables 207,799   116,234   207,799   116,234              ....................................................................................................................
   209,628   117,048   209,628   117,048              ....................................................................................................................          ....................................................................................................................    
.............................................................................................................................................................................................
27. RELATED PARTIES    
 Related party relationships exist between the company and its subsidiaries, fellow subsidiary, shareholders and key management. All trans-  
 actions with related parties occurred under terms no less favourable than those arranged with third parties.  

 27.1 Subsidiaries    
  Details of income and expenditure relating to subsidiaries and investments in subsidiaries are disclosed in notes 3 and 12 respec-  
  tively. No interest is charged on loans to subsidiaries.    

 27.2 Key management    
  The key management personnel of the company comprise the directors and the general managers.  Amounts paid to key manage-  
  ment are disclosed under directors’ emoluments and key management remuneration in note 6.  
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 27.3 Shareholders    
  The shareholders of the company are noted in the directors’ report. The only significant transactions related to the shareholders are   
  rentals paid and borrowings to shareholders as disclosed in note 3 and 13 respectively.  

 27.4 Fellow subsidiary   
  The company has an interconnect agreement with a fellow subsidiary regarding call traffic between the two companies and rent   
  fibre  optic lines for it’s operations from the fellow subsidiary. 

  Summary of balances and transactions with related parties

         GROUP                                   COMPANY       
    
            2008       2007              2008               2007
        N$’000   N$’000          N$’000            N$’000                     ..........................................................................................................
  Balance receivable from fellow subsidiary      
  - Telecom Namibia 8 723   14 092   8 723   14 092 

  Balance payable to fellow subsidiary    
  - Telecom Namibia -  ( 5 873)    -  ( 5 873)
  - Nampost Courier  (  305) (  160) (  305) (  160)
  
  Balance payable (to) / by shareholder    
  - PT Investmentios Internacionai ( 1 717) ( 2 477) ( 1 717) ( 2 477)
  - Namibia Post and Telecommunications Holdings Limited (  112)  -  (  112)  - 
  
  Management fees paid to Africatel Holdings B.V. 2 656  ( 3 732)  2 656  ( 3 732)
  
  Net interconnect fees received from fellow subsidiary 75 255   76 533   75 255   76 533

Notes to the Financial Statements at 30 September 2008 (continued)
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